Wilfrid Laurier University

Scholars Commons @ Laurier

Theses and Dissertations (Comprehensive)

2012

Effects of 17**α**-Ethinylestradiol (EE₂) on Reproductive Endocrine Status in Mummichog (*Fundulus Heteroclitus*) Under Differing Salinity and Temperature Conditions

Esteban Gillio Meina Wilfrid Laurier University, gill2840@mylaurier.ca

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholars.wlu.ca/etd

Part of the Endocrinology Commons, Other Pharmacology, Toxicology and Environmental Health Commons, and the Toxicology Commons

Recommended Citation

Gillio Meina, Esteban, "Effects of 17α-Ethinylestradiol (EE₂) on Reproductive Endocrine Status in Mummichog (*Fundulus Heteroclitus*) Under Differing Salinity and Temperature Conditions" (2012). *Theses and Dissertations (Comprehensive)*. 835. https://scholars.wlu.ca/etd/835

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by Scholars Commons @ Laurier. It has been accepted for inclusion in Theses and Dissertations (Comprehensive) by an authorized administrator of Scholars Commons @ Laurier. For more information, please contact scholarscommons@wlu.ca.

EFFECTS OF 17α-ETHINYLESTRADIOL (EE₂) ON REPRODUCTIVE ENDOCRINE STATUS IN MUMMICHOG (*FUNDULUS HETEROCLITUS*) UNDER DIFFERING SALINITY AND TEMPERATURE CONDITIONS

by

Esteban Gillio Meina

B.Sc. Universidad de Buenos Aires, 2009

THESIS

Submitted to the Department of Biology

Faculty of Science

In partial fulfillment of the requirements for the

Master of Science in Integrative Biology

Wilfrid Laurier University

2011

Esteban Gillio Meina 2011©

Abstract

Waterborne exposure to 17α -ethinylestradiol (EE₂), a synthetic estrogen, has previously been shown to decrease reproductive endocrine status in the estuarine killifish or mummichog (Fundulus heteroclitus macrolepidotus; northern subspecies). To evaluate if variations in salinity or temperature holding conditions modify the effects of EE₂ on gonad size, plasma reproductive steroid levels, and gonadal steroidogenesis, mummichog were exposed in vivo for 14 days to 0, 50 and 250 ng/L EE₂ in 0, 16 and 32 ppt salinity at 18°C and to 0 and 250 ng/L EE₂ at 10, 18 and 26°C at 16 ppt salinity. Effects due to salinity were limited; however, 250 ng/L EE₂ decreased plasma 17β -estradiol (E₂) levels and in vitro gonadal E₂ production and plasma 11-ketotestosterone (11-KT) across all salinities. Higher temperatures triggered gonadal growth in both sexes as well as increased plasma E₂ and gonadal E₂ production in females, while 11-KT production was decreased in males. EE₂ counteracted the effect of temperature as determined by depressed gonadal growth in males. In both exposures, the effects of EE₂ on testosterone (T) production were variable. The use of steroidogenic precursors (25-OH cholesterol, and/or pregnenolone and/or testosterone) in the in vitro gonadal incubations indicated decreased E₂ production in females and 11-KT production in males were predominately due to suppression of the terminal conversion step between T and E₂ or 11-KT. Ovarian cyp19a gene expression was not affected by 250 ng/L EE₂ compared to controls at 16 ppt and 18°C (the only treatment combinations tested). The lack of effects of salinity could be protective for a species spawning in such a variable environment. Gonadal growth at higher temperatures confirms previous work on northern mummichog while EE₂ effects

on gonadal growth could be due to temperature-related increases in EE_2 uptake and/or increased susceptibility during gonadal maturation. In conclusion, the present work demonstrated that environmental conditions impact effects of EE_2 , including terminal steroid production in the gonads. These results should be considered in designing standardized estuarine fish reproductive bioassays and in understanding the potential effects of reproductive contaminants in estuarine environments.

Acknowledgements

I would like to thank to all the people that helped me to fulfill this amazing project. First, I will be always truly grateful to Dr. Deborah MacLatchy, for giving me this huge opportunity to work on such an interesting project, and giving me the chance to come to Canada to grow professionally. In addition, I have to say thanks to Dr. Andrea Lister for teaching me with tremendous patience all the secrets to pursue the lab techniques. Also, I would like to give a huge "thanks" to all my lab mates for their enormous help: Abe Chehade, Rob Rutherford, Isla Murphy, Anja Grujic, Tanya Nadon and Jeremy Fulton. Without their advice, I would still be trying to detect enzymatic activity in the old fashion way.

I have the privilege to have received financial support from NSERC through a grant to Deb MacLatchy; Trans Canada Corporation; Faculty of Graduate and Postdoctoral Studies of Wilfrid Laurier University; and Wilfrid Laurier University Graduate Student Association. With their help I was able to conduct my master's degree and to participate in different conferences that completed this delightful process of learning. For this reason, I am and will continue to be extremely grateful to them.

Many thanks to Drs. Mike Wilkie and Matt Smith, my supervisory committee members, for their guidance during this journey. In addition, I would like to thank Dr. Jelokhani-Niaraki for participating as an external member of my defence committee.

I also want to thank the whole Department of Biology of Wilfrid Laurier University, especially, Dr. Frederique Guinel, who gave me a huge hand during these two years. I can not forget to thank Elma Schweigert and Sharon Chin-Cheong for all their help to solve administrative problems. I cannot leave this University without thanking Jessie Cunningham (MSc) and Elma Schweigert for helping me to improve my rudimentary English (....un mejor inglés..!!!). Also, I would like to thank all the graduate students from the Department who really made me feel at home.

I want to thank Dr. Kelly Munkrittrick and his lab for helping me with my stats; Dr. Thijs Bosker for his help during the experimental set up; Dr. Servos and his lab, for teaching and helping me to do the water chemistry for my experiments; and Dr. Van Der Kraak and his lab for letting me use their equipment and their space for my gene expression analysis.

I cannot close this chapter without thanking my loving and beautiful girlfriend, Eugenia Herwig, who with all her patience helped me in the more difficult moments. In addition, I would like to thank my sister, Dr. Carolina Gillio Meina, who also guided me as my outside scientific consultant. In addition, I also thank my brother and my niece, Luis Gillio Meina and Selena Gillio Meina; and recently incorporated into our family, my sister's daughter, Vanessa Gillio Meina. In their own way, these three helped me to keep going and to finish this project. I need to thank my parents Elsa Vezzato and Eduardo Gillio Meina for all their love, support and financial efforts in order to help me finish this degree.

In addition, I will be always thankful to Dr. Eva Kesten from the Departamento de Química Biológica (Department of Biological Chemistry), Universidad de Buenos Aires and Dr. Martin Ehrlich from Instituto Nacional de Investigación y Desarrollo Pesquero (INIDEP) for helping me to start this international journey.

I really want to thank my childhood friends and their new families for their support. Thanks to: Marcos Saddemi and Natalia Rocco; Claudio Olivieri and Romina Seijas; Norberto Perez Alegre and Cynthia Capul; Paulo Galarza. Also, a big fat thank you to all my friends from my undergraduate program that share with me long days in the library drinking mate, studying, and pursuing our career hopes: Mariela Spinelli; Alina Sacerdoti; Gracia Micca; Lucrecia Villarquide, Evangelina Aristegui, Noelia Andón, Carolina Hernando, Alberto Palladino, Alejandro Villareal, Eduardo Valli.

Finally, I always will be thankful to my loving, beautiful and intelligent Sharis, my Belgian shepherd. Shara, I will always remember you, and you are, and will be my little girl (08/01/2001-12/12/2011).

Table of Contents

Abstract	ii
Acknowledgments	iv
Table of Contents	vii
List of Tables	x
List of Figures & Illustrations	xii
List of Abbreviations and Symbols	xvi

Chapter 1: General Introduction

1.1. Endocrine disrupting substances	2
1.2. Coastal environments and mummichog (Fundulus heteroclitus)	2
1.3. 17α-Ethinylestradiol (EE ₂): a model EDS	. 4
1.4. Fish reproductive endocrinology overview	5
1.5. Steroidogenesis	6
1.6. Effects of environmental factors on steroidogenesis	8
1.7. Effects of EE ₂ on steroidogenesis	9
1.8. Gaps in knowledge	10
1.9. Integrative approach	11
1.10. Objectives and Hypotheses	12
1.11. References	17

Chapter 2: Research Paper

2.1. Abstract	- 2.	5
---------------	------	---

2.2.	Introduction	26
2.3.	Materials and Methods	30
	2.3.1. Chemicals and supplies	30
	2.3.2. Animal holding	30
	2.3.3. Exposures	31
	2.3.4. Sampling	31
	2.3.5. <i>In vitro</i> incubation protocol	32
	2.3.6. Radioimmunoassay and enzymatic immunoassay	33
	2.3.7. Ovarian P450 aromatase A (cyp19a) gene expression	34
	2.3.7.1. RNA extraction and quantification	34
	2.3.7.2. Reverse transcription	35
	2.3.7.3. Quantitative PCR	35
	2.3.8. Statistics	36
2.4.	Results	38
	2.4.1. Effects of EE ₂ under differing saline conditions	38
	2.4.1.1. Organ weights and somatic indices	38
	2.4.1.2. Plasma steroid analysis in females	39
	2.4.1.3. Gonadal steroid production in females	39
	2.4.1.4. Plasma steroid analysis in males	40
	2.4.1.5. Gonadal steroid production in males	41
	2.4.2. Effects of EE ₂ under differing temperature conditions	42
	2.4.2.1. Organ weights and somatic indices	42
	2.4.2.2. Plasma steroid analysis in females	43

2.4.2.3. Gonadal steroid production in females
2.4.2.4. Plasma steroid analysis in males 45
2.4.2.5. Gonadal steroid production in males
2.4.3. Effects of EE_2 on P450 aromatase A (cyp19a) gene expression46
2.5. Discussion 66
2.5.1. Exposure Concentrations
2.5.2. Salinity exposure 69
2.5.3. Temperature exposure
2.5.4. Interpretation of Effects of EE_2 on steroidogenesis and plasma
steroid levels
2.5.5. Steroidogenic precursors as a useful experimental tool 74
2.5.6. Ovarian P450 aromatase (cyp19a) gene expression75
2.5.7. Conclusions
2.6. References 77

Chapter 3: General Discussion and Future Directions

3.1. Relevant findings	86
3.2. Future directions	88
3.3. Integrative approach	89
3.4. References	92

List of Tables

 Table 2.1: Primer sequences analyzed (FWD means forward primer and REV means

 reverse primer)
 36

Table 2.3: Summary of effects of EE_2 (50 and 250 ng/L) on plasma steroids and gonadal biosynthesis of steroids in female mummichog *(Fundulus heteroclitus)* held in differing saline conditions (0, 16 and 32ppt). Ba = basal; 25C = 25-OH cholesterol-stimulated medium; P = pregnenolone-stimulated medium and T = testosterone-stimulated medium; Sa = salinity. \uparrow indicates significant increase; \downarrow indicates significant decrease; = indicates no difference ______60

Table 2.4: Summary of effects of EE_2 (50 and 250 ng/L) on plasma steroids and gonadal biosynthesis of steroids in male mummichog *(Fundulus heteroclitus)* held in differing saline conditions (0, 16 and 32ppt). Ba = basal; 25C = 25-OH cholesterol-stimulated medium; Sa = salinity. \uparrow indicates significant increase; \downarrow indicates significant decrease; = indicates no difference ______61

Table 2.5: Summary of effects of EE₂ (250 ng/L) on plasma steroids and gonadal biosynthesis of steroids in female mummichog *(Fundulus heteroclitus)* held in differing temperature conditions (10, 18 and 26°C). Ba = basal; 25C = 25-OH cholesterol-stimulated medium; P = pregnenolone-stimulated medium and T = testosterone-stimulated medium. \downarrow indicates significant decrease; = indicates no difference ----- 62

List of Figures

Figure 1.2: Gonadal steroidogenesis in fish. The protein and enzymes involved in the steroidogenic pathways are: steroidogenic acute regulatory protein (StAR); P450 sidechain cleavage (P450scc); 3 β -hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase (3 β -HSD); 17 α hydroxylase; C17,20-lyase; 17 β -hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase (17 β -HSD); P450 aromatase; 11 β -hydroxylase and 11 β -hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase (11 β -HSD). Dehydroepiandrosterone (DHEA) is an intermediate steroid in the pathway. Modified from McMaster *et al.* (1995) and Leusch (2001) _______1

Figure 2.1: Effects of EE₂ (50 and 250 ng/L) on plasma steroid levels in mummichog (*Fundulus heteroclitus*) kept in differing saline conditions (0, 16 and 32 ppt). Bars represent means \pm SEM. Differing letters indicate significant differences. N = 4 tanks per treatment. A: Effects of EE₂ on female plasma testosterone (p=0.837). B: Effects of EE₂ on female plasma estradiol (p=0.045). C: Effects of EE₂ on male plasma testosterone with salinity data combined (p=0.004). FW = fresh water (0 ppt); BW = brackish water (16 ppt); SW = salt water (32 ppt). LOG = data log-transformed prior to statistical analysis------49

Figure 2.2: Effects of EE₂ (50 and 250 ng/L) on steroid production in ovarian pieces incubated from mummichog (*Fundulus heteroclitus*) held in differing saline conditions (0, 16 and 32 ppt). Bars represent means \pm SEM. Differing letters indicate significant differences. N = 4 tanks per treatment. Ba = basal medium; 25-OH C = 25-OH cholesterol-stimulated medium; P = pregnenolone-stimulated medium; and T = testosterone-stimulated medium. A: Effects of EE₂ on ovarian testosterone production in females kept at 0 ppt (p=0.036). B: Effects of EE₂ on ovarian testosterone production in females kept at 32 ppt (p<0.001 for 50ng/L of EE₂; p=0.005 for 250 ng/L of EE₂). D: Effects of EE₂ on ovarian estradiol production with salinity data combined (p<0.001 for Ba; p=0.004 for 25-OH C; p<0.001 for P and p=0.029 for T). FW = fresh water (0 ppt); BW = brackish water (16 ppt); SW = salt water (32 ppt)_____51

Figure 2.3: Effects of EE₂ (50 and 250 ng/L) on steroid production in pieces of testes incubated from mummichog (*Fundulus heteroclitus*) held in differing saline conditions (0, 16 and 32 ppt). Bars represent means \pm SEM. Differing letters indicate significant differences. N = 4 tanks per treatment. Ba = basal medium; 25-OH C = 25-OH cholesterol-stimulated medium. A: Effects of EE₂ on testosterone production in males kept at 0 ppt (p=0.01). B: Effects of EE₂ on testosterone production in males kept at 16 ppt (p<0.001 when exposed to 50 and 250 ng/L of EE₂). C: Effects of EE₂ on testosterone production in males kept at 32 ppt (p=0.01). D: Effects of EE₂ on 11-ketotestosterone production in fish kept at 0 ppt (p=0.082). E: Effects of EE₂ on 11-ketotestosterone production in males kept at 32 ppt (p=0.407). LOG = data log-transformed prior to statistical analysis ______53

Figure 2.4: Effects of 250 ng/L of EE₂ on plasma steroid levels in mummichog (*Fundulus heteroclitus*) kept in differing temperature conditions (10, 18 and 26°C). Bars represent means \pm SEM. Differing lower case letters indicate significant differences for the EE₂ factor. N = 4 tanks per treatment. Upper case letters indicate the effects of temperature on plasma steroid levels. A: Effects of EE₂ on female plasma testosterone (p=0.463). B: Effects of EE₂ on female plasma estradiol (p=0.015). C: Effects of EE₂ on male plasma testosterone (p=0.334). D: Effects of EE₂ on male plasma 11-ketotestosterone (p=0.109). LOG = data log-transformed prior to statistical analysis - . 55

Figure 2.5: Effects of 250 ng/L of EE₂ on steroid production in ovarian pieces incubated from mummichog (*Fundulus heteroclitus*) held in differing temperature conditions (10, 18 and 26°C). Bars represent means \pm SEM. Differing letters indicate significant differences. N = 4 tanks per treatment. Ba = basal medium; 25-OH C = 25-OH cholesterol-stimulated medium; P = pregnenolone-stimulated medium; and T = testosterone-stimulated medium. A: Effects of EE₂ on ovarian testosterone production in females kept at 10°C (p<0.001). B: Effects of EE₂ on ovarian testosterone production in females kept at 18°C (p=0.327). C: Effects of EE₂ on ovarian testosterone production in females kept at 10°C (p=0.004). D: Effects of EE₂ on ovarian estradiol production in females kept at 10°C (p=0.018). E: Effects of EE₂ on ovarian estradiol production in females kept at 18°C (p=0.002 for 25-OH C; p<0.001 for P and p=0.006 for T). F: Effects of EE_2 on ovarian estradiol production in females kept at 26°C (p=0.021 for P and p<0.001 for T). LOG = data log-transformed prior to statistical analysis_____57

Figure 2.6: Effects of 250 ng/L of EE₂ on steroid production in pieces of testes incubated from mummichog (*Fundulus heteroclitus*) held in differing temperature conditions (10, 18 and 26°C). Bars represent means \pm SEM. Differing letters indicate significant differences. N = 4 tanks per treatment. Ba = basal medium; 25-OH C = 25-OH cholesterol-stimulated medium. A: Effects of EE₂ on testosterone production in males (p=0.107). B: Effects of EE₂ on 11-ketotestosterone production in males kept at 10°C (p=0.395). C: Effects of EE₂ on 11-ketotestosterone production in males kept at 18°C (p=0.015). D: Effects of EE₂ on 11-ketotestosterone production in fish kept at 26°C (p=0.945). LOG = data log-transformed prior to statistical analysis ______ 59

Figure 2.7: Effects of EE₂ on ovarian aromatase gene expression of mummichog (*Fundulus heteroclitus*) at 16ppt and 18°C. Bars represent means \pm SEM. (p=0.979)__ 65

Figure 3.1: Summary scheme of the effects of salinity, temperature and 17α ethinylestradiol (EE₂) on mummichog (*Fundulus heteroclitus*) reproductive endocrine status. Steroidogenic pathway modified from McMaster *et al.*, 1995 & Leusch, 2001. EE₂ uptake is produced through the gills (Blewett, 2011). E₂ = 17β -Estradiol; 11-KT = 11-Ketotestosterone; LSI = Liver somatic index; GSI= Gonad somatic index._____91

3β-HSD	=	3β-Hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase
11 - KT	=	11-Ketotestosterone
11β-HSD	=	11β-Hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase
17β-HSB	=	17β-Hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase/17β-dehydrogenase
17,20βΡ	=	17,20β-Dihydroxy-4-pregnen-3-one
25C	=	25-OH Cholesterol
ANOVA	=	Analysis of variance
ANCOVA	=	Analysis of covariance
Ba	=	Basal BW = Brackish water
cAMP	=	Cyclic adenosine mono-phosphate
CYP17A1	=	17,20-Desmolase
CYP19a	=	Cytochrome P450 aromatase A
CYP19b	=	Cytochrome P450 aromatase B
d	=	Days
DHEA	=	Dehydroepiandrosterone
DO	=	Dissolved oxygen
E_2	=	17β-Estradiol
EDSs	=	Endocrine disrupting substances
EE_2	=	17α-Ethinylestradiol
EF1a	=	Elongation factor-1 alpha
EIA	=	Enzymatic immunoassay
ER	=	Estrogen receptor

FSH	=	Follicle stimulating hormone
FW	=	Fresh water
GSI	=	Gonadosomatic index
GnRH	=	Gonadotropin releasing hormone
h	=	Hours
HPG	=	Hypothalamic-pituitary-gonadal
IBMX	=	3-Isobutyl-1-methylxanthine
LSI	=	Liver somatic index
LH	=	Luteinizing hormone
LOG	=	Data log-transformed prior to statistical analysis
NP	=	Post hoc test used even if normality for two-way .ANOVA failed
Р	=	Pregnenolone
P450arom	=	Cytochrome P450 aromatase
Ρ45017α	=	Cytochrome P450 17a-hydroxylase/17,20 lyase
P450scc	=	Cytochrome P450 side-chain cleavage
PDEs	=	Phosphodiesterases
РКА	=	Protein kinase A
ppt	=	Parts per thousand
RIA	=	Radioimmunoassay
RT	=	Reverse transcription
Т	=	Testosterone
Sa	=	Salinity
SCP ₂	=	Sterol Carrier protein 2

- SEM = Standard error of the mean
- StAR = Steroidogenic acute regulatory protein
- STP = Sewage treatment plant
- SW = Salt water

Chapter 1

General Introduction

1.1. Endocrine disrupting substances

Endocrine disrupting substances or chemicals (EDSs or EDCs) are exogenous compounds, natural or anthropogenic, which affect the physiology and morphology of fish (Länge *et al.*, 2001; Boudreau *et al.*, 2004; Peters *et al.*, 2007). Reproductive EDSs mimic, enhance or block the action of endogenous hormones causing changes to the reproductive system (Damstra *et al.*, 2002; Denslow & Sepúlveda, 2007) and subsequent reproductive effects. Exposure to EDSs, e.g., have produced abnormal gonadal morphology, delayed sexual development and altered fish behaviour (Nash *et al.*, 2004; Goksoyr, 2006; Della Seta *et al.*, 2008), consequently affecting individuals and their progeny (Damstra *et al.*, 2002).

EDSs can be introduced into aquatic environments via industrial wastes, sewage treatment plant (STP) effluents, agricultural runoff, and oil spills (Desbrow *et al.*, 1998; Ternes *et al.*, 1999; Rocha-Monteiro *et al.*, 2000). They can persist in the water for hours or even days (Jürgens *et al.*, 2002; Palace *et al.*, 2006), and in locations far away from the discharge point (Harries *et al.*, 1997).

1.2. Coastal environments and mummichog (*Fundulus heteroclitus*)

The east coast of North America contains large numbers of estuaries (Day *et al.*, 1989a). Estuaries are one of the most productive types of ecosystems and they have unique geomorphologic and hydrologic characteristics (Day *et al.*, 1989b). Estuaries have been modified by urbanization as coastal industries and municipalities discharge

increasing amounts of treated and untreated wastes into these aquatic environments. This contamination has the potential to affect different fish species since many migrate to estuaries to spawn (anadromous) and others live there permanently (Able *et al.*, 2005). The mummichog (Fundulus heteroclitus) is the numerically-dominant, small-bodied fish species present in salt marshes along the east coast of Canada and the U.S.A. This species is mostly sedentary, having small home ranges (Lotrich, 1975). They are adapted to the characteristic fluctuations of estuarine ecosystems and are able to survive salinities from 0.0 to 120.3 ppt (parts per thousand) and temperatures from -1.5°C to 36.3°C (Kneib, 1986). Spawning takes place in salt marshes, in the intertidal zone. Mummichog have a key role in the estuarine food network, since they are both predator and prey (Kneib, 1986). They have been used as a bioindicator species in numerous field studies to understand the potential impacts of contaminants (LeBlanc et al., 1997; Fournier et al., 1998; Couillard & Nellis, 1999). Their size, ability to breed in captivity, and resilience to factors such as variations in salinity, dissolved oxygen and temperature, make mummichog easy to maintain in laboratories and artificial streams (Burnett et al., 2007). In addition, this species has shown sensitivity to EDSs both in the laboratory (MacLatchy et al., 2003; Peters et al., 2007; 2010) and in artificial streams (Dubé et al., 2002). Selection of this species as a fish model for laboratory and field studies to assess the effects of EDSs on estuarine and marine environments has been supported by numerous authors (Burnett et al., 2007; Bosker et al., 2010; Greytak et al., 2010; Lister et al., 2011).

1.3. 17α-Ethinylestradiol (EE₂): a model EDS

17α-Ethinylestradiol (EE₂) (Figure 1.1) is considered to be a representative EDS because it is a powerful estrogen agonist (Segner *et al.*, 2003). It competes with the naturally-produced 17β-estradiol (E₂) (Figure 1.1) for the estrogen receptor (ER) (Pelissero *et al.*, 1993, MacLatchy *et al.*, 2003). EE₂ has greater affinity for the ER than E₂ (Segner *et al.*, 2003; Denslow & Sepúlveda, 2007), although its effects depend on the relative circulating levels of E₂ in the fish (Kime *et al.*, 1999). EE₂ is the principal pharmaceutical component of birth control pills and hormone replacement therapy, and is not broken down by sewage treatment processes (Desbrow *et al.*, 1998; Ternes *et al.*, 1999; Della Seta *et al.*, 2008). Therefore, it enters aquatic environments in high concentrations through STP effluents. Concentrations of EE₂ present in British and Canadian STP effluents are usually between 0.2 and 7 ng/L EE₂ (Desbrow *et al.*, 1999).

 EE_2 effects on fish reproduction in laboratory studies include a range of dysfunctions such as development of ovotestes in male Japanese medaka (*Oryzia lapites*; Balch *et al.*, 2004), reduced fertilization in mummichog (Peters *et al.*, 2007; 2010), and decreased egg production in zebrafish (*Danio rerio*; Nash *et al.*, 2004). In a whole-lake experiment, Kidd *et al.* (2007) found that exposure of a population of fathead minnow (*Pimephales promelas*) to EE₂ for two years caused feminization in males, a decreased rate of reproduction in the population, and reduced population fitness.

1.4. Fish reproductive endocrinology overview

Reproductive function in vertebrate organisms is regulated by the hypothalamicpituitary-gonadal (HPG) axis. Each level of the HPG axis synthesizes and releases a hormone or number of hormones. The hypothalamus produces gonadotropin releasing hormone (GnRH), which is the primary regulator of the reproductive system (Gore, 2002). In most animals, GnRH is released into the portal system through which it reaches the pituitary gland. However, in fish, GnRH neuroterminals project directly into the anterior pituitary gland and GnRH is released in the extracellular space (Gore, 2002). Consequently, the anterior pituitary secretes the gonadotropins lutenizing hormone (LH) and follicle stimulating hormone (FSH). These gonadotropins bind to their receptors in the ovaries and testes, to regulate folliculogenesis in females, spermatogenesis in males, and steroid biosynthesis in both sexes (Gore, 2002). The sex hormones such as E₂ and testosterone (T), released into the blood stream, act at their respective receptors in different tissues including the brain and the pituitary gland, where they produce feedback effects on the HPG (Gore, 2002; Hawkins *et al.*, 2005).

Interaction of E_2 and other steroids, including EDSs, occurs at target cells via two distinct mechanisms, one genomic and the other non-genomic (Legler *et al.*, 2002; Filby *et al.*, 2007; Vasudevan & Pfaff, 2008). The genomic actions are those where binding to ER results in regulation of transcription of steroidogenic genes (Filby *et al.*, 2007). The non-genomic response has been identified as a rapid increase (seconds or minutes) in cyclic AMP (cAMP), and is initiated at the plasma membrane by an interaction with ERs (Thomas & Doughty, 2004; Vasudevan & Pfaff, 2008).

1.5. Steroidogenesis

In response to the pituitary gonadotropins FSH and LH, cells in a variety of tissues (including the ovary, testis and adrenal or interrenal glands) from many animal species secrete steroids such as progestins, estrogens and androgens in a process termed steroidogenesis (Ings & Van der Kraak, 2006). Regardless of the cell type, steroids are synthesized from a common precursor substrate, cholesterol (Figure 1.1) (Veldhuis et al., 1985). Cholesterol can be derived from cholesterol esters stored in intracellular lipid droplets, through *de novo* synthesis inside the cell, and from uptake of cholesterol contained in low density lipoproteins from the plasma (Miller, 1987). Once inside the cell, cholesterol is principally transported across the cytoplasm to the outer membrane of the mitochondria by specific carriers (Miller, 2007) and on a smaller scale is trafficked between vesicles and the plasma membrane (Maxfield & Wüstner, 2002; Soccio & Breslow, 2004; Miller, 2007). Steroidogenesis starts when cholesterol is transported from the outer to the inner membrane of mitochondria within steroidogenic cells (Leusch, 2001) (Figure 1.2). This process is presumed to be the rate-limiting step in mammalian steroid synthesis, and a protein called steroid ogenic acute regulatory protein (StAR) is at least partially responsible for the cholesterol transport (Clark & Stocco, 1997; Arukwe, 2008). Within the mitochondria, cholesterol is enzymatically cleaved to form the first intermediate steroid, pregnenolone (Figure 1.1), by an enzyme called P450 side-chain cleavage (P450scc). P450scc is part of the cholesterol side-chain cleavage system (CSCC) that resides in the inner membrane of mitochondria. Once pregnenolone is synthesized, it may be metabolized to progesterone (Figure 1.1) by 3^β-hydroxysteroid

dehydrogenase (3 β -HSD), or can be transformed to androgens (Figure 1.1) by cytochrome P450 17 α -hydroxylase/17,20 lyase (P45017 α). Testosterone (T) (Figure 1.1), one of the main vertebrate androgens, is converted into E₂ by cytochrome P450 aromatase (P450 arom; Arukwe 2008; Leusch, 2001) (Figure 1.2). In male fish T is converted into 11-ketotestoterone (11-KT) by 11 β -hydroxylase and 11 β -hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase (11 β -HSD) and this androgen is known to be the principal androgen in teleost fish (Figure 1.2; Kime, 1993). These reproductive steroids have important roles in vertebrates such as regulation of reproductive function and secondary sex characteristics in females, and fertility and secondary sex characteristic in males (Stocco, 2001).

In steroidogenic cells, pituitary gonadotrophins regulate synthesis of different steroids via regulation of expression and activity of the steroidogenic enzymes and proteins. Once gonadotrophin binds to its receptors on the cell membrane, the cAMP second messenger system is activated (Taskén & Aandahl, 2004). As a consequence, cAMP is synthesized and activates protein kinase A (PKA), generating two types of responses: acute and chronic. In the acute response, PKA phosphorylates and activates cholesteryl esterase. These esterases hydrolyze cholesteryl esters contained in lipid droplets to free cholesterol (Azhar *et al.*, 2003). Although there is a debate on how it happens, several carriers such as sterol carrier protein 2 (SCP₂) or StAR-D4, StAR-D5, StAR-D6 appear to be mainly responsible for the transport of cholesterol from the cytosol to the outer membrane of the mitochondria (Seedorf *et al.*, 2000; Azhar *et al.*, 2003; Miller, 2007). In the chronic response, PKA is involved in the activation of the expression of specific genes required for estrogen, androgen and progesterone synthesis in steroidogenic cells, including genes responsible for the biosynthesis of the involved

proteins and enzymes: StAR, P450scc, 3β -HSD and P450arom (Taskén & Aandahl, 2004). Cyclic AMP can also be negatively regulated inside the cells by another group of proteins called phosphodiesterases (PDEs) that degrade cAMP when it is no longer needed, consequently limiting gene expression of the enzymes involved in steroidogenesis (Jin *et al.*,1999).

1.6 Effects of environmental factors on steroidogenesis

Environmental factors such as salinity and temperature have been shown to affect fish reproductive endocrine status. For example, waigieu sea perch (*Psammoperca waigiensis*) had a gradual increase of female plasma E_2 with increasing salinity during pre-spawning and spawning periods for fish kept at 10, 20 and 32 ppt. Plasma T also differed among the salinity groups. Plasma T was higher in the pre-spawning period when females were kept in 32 ppt compared to females kept at 10 and 20 ppt and significantly lower after spawning than the 20 and 10 ppt groups (Quoc Pham *et al.*, 2010). Male black bream (*Acanthopagrus butcheri*) kept through a natural reproductive cycle at 35 ppt had higher plasma levels of 17,20β-dihydroxy-4-pregnen-3-one (17,20βP) and 11-KT than those kept at 5 ppt and 20 ppt (Haddy & Pankhurst, 2000).

A variation in temperature also produces effects on fish reproductive endocrinology. Wolffish (*Anarhichas lupus L.*) had a delay of four weeks in the normal reproductive cycle, resulting in delayed ovulation, due to exposure to elevated temperatures (Tveiten & Johnsen, 2001). During summer, female Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar L.*) kept at 22°C had lower E_2 and higher T than females kept at 14 or 18°C, with the lowest E_2 levels at 18°C (King *et al.*, 2003). Elevated temperatures affected pejerrey (*Odontesthes bonariensis*) reproductive endocrine function as T in males and E_2 in females were significantly decreased with increased temperature (Soria *et al.*, 2008).

1.7. Effects of EE₂ on steroidogenesis

The most common estrogenic compounds found in aquatic environments close to STPs are EE_2 and E_2 (Desbrow *et al.*, 1998). EE_2 mimics the biologically-synthesized E_2 and produces strong effects on steroidogenesis in different fish species. For example, sea bream (Sparus aurata) exposed to 25 mg/kg of EE₂ in their diet, followed by in vitro incubations of their gonads with androstenedione as a precursor, showed increased production of E_2 (37 to 112 d of exposure) and T (112 d of exposure) than the control group (Condeça & Canario, 1999). In mummichog, waterborne exposure to concentrations of 1-100 ng/L of EE_2 altered gonadal steroid production in females and caused completion of spawning cycles earlier compared to females exposed to lower EE₂ concentrations (0-0.1 ng/L) (MacLatchy et al., 2003; Peters et al., 2007). In vitro incubation of Atlantic croaker (*Micropogonias undulatus*) testes with 36.7 μ M of E₂ in precursors pregnenolone, 17-hydroxyprogesterone, the presence of the and androstenedione inhibited 17α -hydroxylase, 17, 20-desmolase (CYP17A1), or 17βdehydrogenase (17β-HSD) activity (Loomis & Thomas, 2000). Sea bream exposed for 14 d to 2 and 15 mg/kg of E2 in the diet resulted in a significant increase in enzymatic activity of 3β-HSD during the first week, whereas 11β-HSD and 17β-HSD were substantially lower than the control group in the highest concentration of E_2 . Exposure to

 E_2 also caused greater T synthesis than the control group in the 14-d exposure (Condeça & Canario, 2001). When rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) males were treated with E_2 an inhibition of the activity of 3β-HSD and 11β-hydroxylase occurred (Baron *et al.*, 2005; Govoroun *et al.*, 2001). Male mummichog exposed to 250 ng/L of EE₂ showed a significant reduction in the production of T in basal and 25-OH cholesterol-stimulated gonadal incubations, demonstrating that while StAR and P450scc may be affected by EE_2 , an effect downstream in the steroidogenic pathway could also be present (Hogan *et al.*, 2010)

EE₂ has also been shown to alter gene expression in various fish species. For instance, rainbow trout males exposed for 16 d to EE₂ showed an inhibition of the expression of the mRNA for 3β-HSD and P45017 α after the first day, and an inhibition of P450scc and 11β-hydroxylase after the eighth day (Baron *et al.*, 2005). Fathead minnow treated with EE₂ showed a significant increase in the mRNA expression of aromatase A (CYP19a) in male, and aromatase B (CYP19b) in female gonads, a significant reduction in 17β-HSD and StAR mRNA, and an increase in 17β-HSD in the mRNA extracted from female gonads (Filby *et al.*, 2007). StAR and major steroidogenic enzyme genes such as CYP19a and 3β-HSD were significantly decreased in one-year-old females of the same species exposed to E₂ (Nakamura *et al.*, 2009).

1.8. Gaps in knowledge

To date, most of the research done on the effects of estrogenic compounds on fish steroidogenesis has been done on stenohaline freshwater species (e.g., zebrafish and

fathead minnow). Understanding how estrogenic compounds affect reproductive endocrine status necessarily includes determining effects on production and circulating levels of the terminal steroid concentrations as the terminal steroids regulate development, growth, and reproduction by interacting with receptors in other organs, including the brain, liver and gonads. However, less work has been done to understand the effects of estrogenic compounds on steroidogenesis and circulating steroid levels in saltwater or estuarine species. Although inferences can be made from studies on freshwater species, because environmental factors (e.g., salinity and temperature) affect reproductive endocrine status in fish, more focused studies in estuarine fish are warranted. This work is unique in that it is the first study to consider the possible interaction between varying environmental conditions and the effects of EE_2 on steroidogenesis.

1.9. Integrative approach

This project used an integrative approach to elucidate the potential interaction of environmental parameters with EE_2 , a model endocrine disruptor, and the effects of EE_2 on physiological function at the biochemical and molecular levels.

Analyzing the effects of EE_2 on the circulating steroid levels allowed us to determine how the general physiology of mummichog, a model estuarine species, is affected. Investigating more deeply by determining EE_2 effects on gonadal steroidogenesis let us postulate a mechanism by which circulating steroid levels are altered by EE_2 . Finally, working at the molecular level allowed us to begin determining

whether the effect of EE_2 on steroidogenesis is via genomic and/or non genomic mechanisms. The approach of studying multiple levels of biological organization (whole organism to tissue to molecular level) combined with effects of potentially interactive environmental stressors (salinity and temperature, and a contaminant), is clearly highly integrative.

1.10. Objective and hypotheses

The objective of this study is to evaluate if variations in salinity or temperature conditions of EE₂-exposed mummichog modify the effect on whole-organism reproductive endocrine status and gonadal steroid biosynthesis.

The null hypotheses are:

- Level 1: Organ weight and somatic indices
 - ♦ Ho_{1A}: EE₂ does not affect organ weight and somatic indices
 - Ho_{1B}: Salinity (or temperature) does not affect organ weight and somatic indices
 - Ho_{1C}: There is no interaction of EE₂ and salinity (or temperature) on organ weight and somatic indices

- ✤ Level 2: Circulating Steroids
 - ✤ Ho_{2A}: EE₂ does not affect circulating steroid levels
 - ♦ Ho_{2B}: Salinity (or temperature) does not affect circulating steroid levels
 - Ho_{2C}: There is no interaction of EE₂ and salinity (or temperature) on circulating steroid levels
- Level 3: Gonadal Biosynthesis
 - ♦ Ho_{3A}: EE₂ does not affect biosynthesis of gonadal terminal steroids
 - Ho_{3B}: Salinity (or temperature) does not affect biosynthesis of gonadal terminal steroids
 - Ho_{3C}: There is no interaction of EE₂ and salinity (or temperature) on biosynthesis of gonadal terminal steroids
- ✤ Level 4: Gene Expression
 - ✤ Ho₄: EE₂ does not affect P450 aromatase A gene expression



Pregnenolone

Cholesterol





17α-Hydroxyprogesterone

Progesterone



H O

17α-Hydroxypregnenolone

Dehydroepiandrosterone (DHEA)





Androstenedione

Testosterone





17β-Estradiol (E₂)

11-Ketotestosterone



17α-Ethinylestradiol (EE₂)

Figure 1.1: Chemical structures of the intermediate and final products of the gonadal steroidogenic pathway in fish and the synthetic 17α-ethinylestradiol. http://pubchem.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/



Figure 1.2: Gonadal steroidogenesis in fish. The protein and enzymes involved in the steroidogenic pathways are: steroidogenic acute regulatory protein (StAR); P450 side-chain cleavage (P450scc); 3β -hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase (3β -HSD); 17α -hydroxylase; C17,20-lyase; 17β -hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase (17β -HSD); P450 aromatase; 11β -hydroxylase and 11β -hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase (11β -HSD). Dehydroepiandrosterone (DHEA) is an intermediate steroid in the pathway. Modified from McMaster *et al.*, 1995 and Leusch, 2001.

- Able, K.W., Smith, K.J., Hagan, S.M. 2005. Fish composition and abundance in New Jersey salt marsh pools: sampling technique effects. *North. Natural.* 12: 485-502
- Arukwe, A. 2008. Steroidogenic acute regulatory (StAR) protein and cholesterol side-chain cleavage (P450scc)-regulated steroidogenesis as an organ-specific molecular and cellular target for endocrine disrupting chemicals in fish. *Cell. Biol. Toxicol.* 24: 527-540
- Azhar, S., Leers-Sucheta, S., Reaven, E. 2003. Cholesterol uptake in adrenal and gonadal tissues: the SR-BI and 'selective' pathway connection. *Front. Biosci.* 8: 998-1029
- Balch, G.C., Mackenzie, C.A., Metcalfe, C.D. 2004. Alterations to gonadal development and reproductive success in Japanese medaka (*Oryzias latipes*) exposed to 17αethinylestradiol. *Environ. Toxicol. Chem.* 23: 782-791
- Baron, D., Fostier, A., Breton, B., Guiguen, Y. 2005. Androgen and estrogen treatments alter steady state messengers RNA (mRNA) levels of testicular steroidogenic enzymes in the rainbow trout, *Oncorhynchus mykiss. Molec. Reprod. Develop.* 9999: 1-9
- Bosker, T., Hewitt, L.M., Munkittrick, K.R., MacLatchy, D.L. 2010. Validation of a refined short-term adult fish reproductive test with improved power for mummichog (*Fundulus heteroclitus*) to test complex effluents. *Ecotoxicol. Environ. Saf.* 73: 1596-1601
- Boudreau, M., Courtenay, S.C., MacLatchy, D.L., Bérubé, C.H., Parrott, J.L., Van der Kraak, G.J. 2004. Utility of morphological abnormalities during early-life development of the estuarine mummichog, *Fundulus heteroclitus*, as an indicator of estrogenic and antiestrogenic endocrine disruption. *Environ. Toxicol. Chem.* 23: 415-425
- Burnett, K.G., Bain, L.J., Baldwin, W.S., Callard, G.V., Cohen, S., Di Giulio, R.T., Evans, D.H., Gómez-Chiarri, M., Hahn, M.E., Hoover, C.A., Karchner, S.I., Fumi, K., MacLatchy, D.L., Marshall, W.S., Meyer, J.J., Nacci, D.E., Oleksiak, M.F., Rees, B.B., Singer, T.D., Stegeman, J.J., Towle, D.W., Van Veld, P.A., Vogelbein, W.K., Whitehead, A., Winn, R.N., Crawford, D.L. 2007. *Fundulus* as the premier teleost model in environmental biology: Opportunities for new insights using genomics. *Comp. Biochem. Physiol.* Part D 2: 257-286
- Clark, B.J. and Stocco, D.M. 1997. Steroidogenic acute regulatory protein: The StAR still shines brightly. *Molec. Cell. Endocrinol*. 134: 1-8
- Condeça, J.B. and Canario A.V.M. 2001.Gonadal steroidogenesis in response to estradiol-17β administration in the sea bream (*Sparus aurata* L.) *Gen. Comp. Endocrinol*.124: 82-96
- Condeça, J.B. and Canario A.V.M. 1999. The effect of estrogen on the gonads and on *in vitro* conversion of androstenedione to testosterone, 11-ketotestosterone, and estradiol-17β in *Sparus aurata* (Teleostei, Sparidae). *Gen. Comp. Endocrinol.* 116: 59-72
- Couillard, C.M. and Nellis, P. 1999. Organochlorine contaminants in mummichog (*Fundulus heteroclitus*) living downstream from a bleached-kraft pulp mill in the miramichi estuary, New Brunswick, Canada. *Environ. Toxicol. Chem.* 18: 2545-2556
- Day, J.W. (Jr.), Hall, C., Kemp W.M., Yáñez-Arancibia, A. 1989a. *Estuarine Ecology*. Wiley NY, pp. 48
- Day, J.W. (Jr.), Hall, C., Kemp W.M., Yáñez-Arancibia, A. 1989b. *Estuarine Ecology*. Wiley NY, pp. 147-187
- Damstra, T., Barlow, S., Bergman, A., Kavlock, R., Van der Kraak, G. 2002. *Global* assessment of the state of the science of endocrine disruptors; World Health Organization, G, pp. 1-7
- Della Seta, D., Farabollini, F., Dessi-Fulgheri, F., Fusani, L. 2008. Environmental-like exposure to low levels of estrogen affects sexual behavior and physiology of female rats. *Endocrinology* 149: 5592-5598
- Denslow, N. and Sepúlveda, M. 2007. Ecotoxicological effects of endocrine disrupting compounds on fish reproduction. In: *The fish oocyte: from basic studies to biotechnological application* (Babin, P.J., Cerdà, J., Lubzens, E. eds.) Springer, D,pp: 255-322
- Desbrow, C., Routledge, E.J., Brigthy, G.C., Sumpter, J.P., Waldock, M. 1998. Identification of estrogenic chemicals in STW effluents. 1. Chemical fraction and *in vitro* biological screening. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 32: 1549-1558
- Dubé, M., MacLatchy, D.L., Culp, J., Gillis, G., Parker, R., Courtenay, S.C., Gilman, C. 2002. Utility of mobile, field-based artificial stream for assessing effects on pulp mill effluent on fish in the Canadian environmental effects monitoring (EEM) program. J. Aquat. Ecosys. Stress Recov. 9: 85-102
- Filby, A.L., Thorpe, K.L., Maack, G., Tyler, C.R. 2007. Gene expression profiles revealing the mechanisms of anti-androgen- and estrogen-induced feminization in fish. *Aquat. Toxicol.* 81: 219-231
- Fournier, M., Lacroix, A., Voccia, I., Brousseau, P. 1998. Phagocytic and metabolic activities of macrophages from mummichog naturally exposed to pulp mill effluents in the Miramichi River. *Ecotoxicol. Environ. Saf.* 40: 177-183

- Goksoyr, A. 2006. Endocrine disruptors in the marine environment: mechanisms of toxicity and their influence on reproductive processes in fish. *J. Toxicol. & Environ. Health* Part A, 69: 175-184
- Gore, A.C. 2002. *GnRH: The master molecule of reproduction*. Kluwer Academic Publishers, MA, USA pp: 1-7
- Govoroun, M., McMeel, O.M., Mecherouski, H., Smith, T.J., Guiguen, Y. 2001. 17βestradiol treatment decreases steroidogenic enzyme messenger ribonucleic acid levels in the rainbow trout testis. *Endocrinology* 142: 1841-1848
- Greytak, S.R., Tarrant, A.M., Nacci, D., Hahn, M.E., Callard, G.V. 2010. Estrogen responses in killifish (*Fundulus heteroclitus*) from polluted and unpolluted environments are site- and gene-specific. *Aquat. Toxicol.* 99: 291-299
- Haddy, J.A. and Pankhurst, N.W. 2000. The effects of salinity on reproductive development, plasma steroid levels, fertilization and egg survival in black bream *Acanthospagrus butcheri*. *Aquaculture* 188: 115-131
- Harries, J.E., Sheahan, D.A., Jobling, S., Matthiessen, P., Neall, P., Sumpter, J.P., Tylor, T., Zaman, N. 1997. Estrogenic activity in five United Kingdom rivers detected by Measurement of Vitellogenesis in caged male trout. *Environ. Toxicol. Chem.* 16: 534-542
- Hawkins, M.B, Godwin, J., Crews, D., Thomas, P. 2005. The distribution of the duplicate oestrogen receptors ER-βa and ER-βb in the forebrain of the Atlantic croaker (*Micropogonias undulatus*): evidence for subfunctionalization after gene duplication. *Proc. Roy. Soc. B* 272: 633-641
- Hogan, N.S., Currie, S., Le Blanc, S., Hewitt, M.L., MacLatchy, D.L. 2010. Modulation of steroidogenesis and estrogen signalling in the estuarine killifish (*Fundulus heteroclitus*) exposed to ethinylestradiol. *Aquat. Toxicol.* 98: 148-156
- Ings, J. and Van der Kraak, G.J. 2006. Characterization of the mRNA expression of StAR, and steroidogenic enzymes in zebrafish ovarian folicles. *Molec. Reprod. Develop.* 73: 943-954
- Jin, S.L.C, Richard, F.J., D' Ercole, A.J., Kuo W.P., Conti, M. 1999. Impaired growth and fertility of cAMP-specific phosophodiesterase PDE4D-deficient mice. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.*96: 11998-12003
- Jürgens, M., Holthaus, K.I.E, Johnson, A.C., Smith, J.J.L, Hetheridge, M., Williams, R.J. 2002. The potential for estradiol and ethinylestradiol degradation in English rivers. *Environ. Toxicol.Chem.* 21: 480-488

- Kidd, K.A., Blanchfield, P.J, Mills, K.H., Palace, V.P., Evans, R.E., Lazorchak, J.M., Flick, R.W. 2007. Collapse of a fish population after exposure to a synthetic estrogen. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* 104: 8897-8901
- Kime, D.E. Nash, J.P., Scott, A.P. 1999. Vitellogenesis as a biomarker of reproductive disruption by xenobiotics. *Aquaculture* 177: 345-352
- Kime, D.E. 1993. 'Classical' and 'non-classical' reproductive steroids in fish. *Rev Fish. Biol. Fish.* 3:160-180
- King, H.R., Pankhurst, N.W., Watts, M., Pankhurst, P.M. 2003. Effects of elevated summer temperatures on gonadal steroid production, vitellogenesis and egg quality in female Atlantic salmon. *J. Fish Biol.* 63:153-167
- Kneib, R. 1986. The role of *Fundulus heteroclitus* in salt marsh trophic dynamics. *Amer. Zool.* 26: 259-269
- Länge, R., Hutchinson, T.H., Croudace, C.P., Seigmund, F., Schweinfurth, H., Hampe, P., Panter, G., Sumpter, J.P. 2001. Effects of the synthetic estrogen 17α-ethinylestradiol on the life-cycle of the fathead minnow (*Pimephales promelas*). *Environ. Toxicol. Chem.* 20: 1216-1227
- LeBlanc, J., Couillard, C.M., Brêthes, J.C.F. 1997. Modification of the reproductive period in mummichog (*Fundulus heteroclitus*) living downstream from a bleached kraft pulp mill in the Miramichi Estuary, New Brunswick, Canada. *Can. J. Fish Aquat. Sci.* 54: 2564-2573
- Legler, J., Zeintra, L.M., Schuitemaker, F., Lanser, P.H., Bogerd, J., Brouwe A., Vethaak, D., De Voogt, P., Murk, A.J., Van der Burg, B., 2002. Comparison of *in vivo* and *in vitro* reporter gene assays for short-term screening of estrogenic activity. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 36: 4410-4415
- Leusch, F.D.L. 2001. *Mechanisms of action of phytosterols on goldfish (Carassius auratus)* gonadal steroidogenesis. MSc thesis, University of New Brunswick, pp: 2-16
- Lister, A.L, Van der Kraak, G.J., Rutherford, R., MacLatchy, D.L. 2011. *Fundulus heteroclitus*: Ovarian reproductive physiology and impact of environmental contaminants. *Comp. Biochem. Phyiol.* Part C 154: 278-287
- Loomis, A.K. and Thomas, P. 2000. Effects of estrogen and xenoestrogen on androgen production by Atlantic croaker testes *in vitro*: evidence for nongenomic action mediated by an estrogen membrane receptor. *Biol. Reprod.* 62: 995-1004
- Lotrich, V.A. 1975. Summer home range and movements of *Fundulus heteroclitus* (Pisces: Cyprinodontidae)in a tidal creek. *Ecology* 56: 191-198

- MacLatchy, D.L., Courtenay, S.C., Rice C.D., and Van der Kraak, G.J. 2003. Development of a short-term reproductive endocrine bioassay using steroid hormone and vitellogenin end points in the estuarine mummichog (*Fundulus heteroclitus*). *Environ. Toxicol. Chem.* 22: 996-1008
- Maxfield F.R. and Wüstner D., 2002. Intracellular cholesterol transport. J. Clinic. Investig. 110: 891-898
- McMaster, M.E., Munkittrick, K.R., Jardine, J.J., Robinson, R.D., Van der Kraak, G.J. 1995. Protocol for measuring *in vitro* steroid production by fish gonadal tissue. *Can. Tech. Rept. Fish. Aquat. Sci.* 1961: 1-78
- Miller, N. 1987. 5 High-density lipoprotein: a major risk factor for coronary atherosclerosis. *Baillière. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab.* 1: 217-223
- Miller, W.L. 2007. What we know about how the steroidogenic acute regulatory protein mediates mitochondrial cholesterol import. *Molec. Endocrinol.* 21: 589-601
- Nakamura, I., Kusakabe, M. Young, G. 2009. Differential suppressive effects of low physiological doses of estradiol- 17β *in vivo* on levels of mRNA encoding steroidogenic acute regulatory protein and three steroidogenic enzymes in previtellogenic ovarian follicles of rainbow trout. *Gen. Comp. Endocrinol.* 163: 318-323
- Nash, J.P., Kime, D.E., Van der Ven, L.T.M., Wester, P.W., Brion, F., Maack, G., Stahlscmidt-Allner, P., Tyler, C.R. 2004. Long-term exposure to environmental concentrations of the pharmaceutical ethynylestradiol causes reproductive failure in fish. *Environ. Health Persp.* 112: 1725-1733
- Palace, V.P., Wautier, K.G., Evans, R.E., Blanchfield, P.J., Mills, K.H.; Chalanchuk, S.M., Godard, D., McMaster, M.E., Tetreault, G.R., Peters, L.E., Vanderbyllaardt, L., Kidd, K.A. 2006. Biochemical and histopathological effects in pearl dace (*Margariscus margarita*) chronically exposed to a synthetic estrogen in a whole lake experiment. *Environ. Toxicol. Chem.* 25: 1114-1125
- Pelissero, C., Flouriot, G., Foucher, J.L., Bennetau, B., Dunoguès, J., Le Gac, F., Sumpter, J.P. 1993. Vitellogenin synthesis in cultured hepatocytes; an *in vitro* test for the estrogenic potency of chemicals. J. Steroid Biochem. Molec. Biol. 44: 263-272
- Peters, R.E.M., Courtenay, S.C., Hewitt, M.L., MacLatchy, D.L. 2010. Effects of 17αethinylestradiol on early-life development, sex differentiation and vitellogenin induction in mummichog (*Fundulus heteroclitus*). *Mar. Environ. Res.* 69: 178-186
- Peters, R.E.M., S Courtenay, S.C., Cagampan, S., Hewitt, M.L., MacLatchy, D.L. 2007. Effects on reproductive potential and endocrine status in the mummichog (*Fundulus heteroclitus*) after exposure to 17α-ethinylestradiol in a short-term reproductive bioassay. *Aquat. Toxicol.* 85: 154-166

- Quoc Pham, H., Kjorsovik, E., Nguyen, A.T., Nguyen, M.D., Aurukwe, A. 2010. Reproductive cycle in female Waigieu seaperch (*Psammoperca waigiensis*) reared under different salinity levels and the effects of dopamine antagonist on steroid hormone levels. J. Exp. Mar. Biol. Ecol. 383: 137-145
- Rocha-Monteiro, P.R., Reis-Henriques, M.A., Coimbra, J. 2000. Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons inhibit *in vitro* ovarian steroidogenesis in the flounder (*Platichthys flesus* L.). *Aquat. Toxicol.* 48:549-559
- Seedorf, U., Ellinghaus, P., Nofer, J.R. 2000. Sterol carrier protein-2. *Bioch. Bioph. Act.* 1486:45-54
- Segner, H., Navas, J.M., Schäfers, C., Weznel, A. 2003. Potencies of estrogenic compounds in *in vitro* screening assays an in life cycle test with zebrafish *in vivo*. *Ecotoxicol*. *Environm. Saf.* 54: 315-322
- Soccio, R.E. and Breslow, J.L. 2004. Intracellular cholesterol transport. Arterioscler. *Thomb. Vasc. Biol.* 24: 1150-1160
- Soria, F.N.; Strüssmann, C.A.; Miranda, L.A. 2008. High water temperatures impair the reproductive ability of the pejerrey fish (*Odontesthes bonariensis*): effects on hypophyseal-gonadal axis. *Physiol. and Biochem. Zool.* 81: 898-905
- Stocco, M.D., 2001. Protein and the regulation of steroid hormone biosynthesis. *Annu. Rev. Physiol.* 2001. 63:193-213
- Taskén, K., Aandahl, E.M. 2004. Localized effects of cAMP mediated by distinct routes of protein kinase A. *Physiol. Rev.* 84: 137-167
- Ternes, T.A., Stumpf, M., Mueller, J., Haberer, K., Wilken, R.D., Servos, M. 1999. Behavior and occurrence of estrogens in municipal sewage treatment plants- I Investigation in Germany, Canada and Brazil. *Sci. Total Environ.* 225: 81-90
- Thomas P. and Dougthy, K. 2004. Disruption of rapid, nongenomic steroid action by environmental chemicals: interference with progestin stimulation of sperm motility in Atlantic croaker. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 38: 6328-6332
- Tveiten, H and Johnsen, H.K. 2001. Thermal influences on temporal changes in plasma testosterone and oestradiol-17β concentrations during gonadal recrudescence in female common wolffish. *J. Fis. Biol.* 59: 175-178
- Vasudevan, N. and Pfaff, D.W. 2008. Non-genomic actions of estrogens and their interaction with genomic actions in the brain. *Front. Neuroendocrinol.* 29: 238-257

Veldhuis, J.D., Gwynne, J.T., Azimi, P., Garmey, J., Juchter, D. 1985. Properties of low density lipoprotein binding by cultured swine granulosa cells. *Endocrinology* 117: 1067-1075 Chapter 2

Research Paper

2.1 Abstract

Exposure to 17α -ethinylestradiol (EE₂), a synthetic estrogen, has previously been shown to decrease reproductive endocrine status and egg production in northern mummichog (Fundulus heteroclitus macrolepidotus). The objective of this study was to evaluate if variations in salinity or temperature conditions of EE_2 -exposed mummichog modify the effect on whole-organism reproductive endocrine status and gonadal steroidogenesis. Mummichog were exposed in vivo for 14 days to 0, 50 and 250 ng/L EE_2 in 0, 16 and 32 ppt salinity at 18°C and to 0 and 250 ng/L EE₂ at 10, 18 and 26°C at 16 ppt. In the salinity exposure, 250 ng/L EE₂-exposed females had significantly reduced 17β-estradiol (E_2) levels. Increased temperature triggered gonadal growth in both sexes and increased plasma E₂ and E₂ production and decreased 11-KT (11-ketotestosterone) production. EE₂ counteracted the effect of temperature by depressing gonadal growth in males. In both exposures, EE_2 effects on testosterone (T) production were variable. The use of steroidogenic precursors (25-OH cholesterol, and/or pregnenolone and/or testosterone) in the *in vitro* gonadal incubations indicated decreased E_2 production in females and 11-KT production in males were predominately due to suppression of the terminal conversion step between T and E₂ or 11-KT. Ovarian cyp19a gene expression at 16 ppt and 18°C was not affected by 250 ng/L EE_2 (the only treatment combinations tested). Overall, temperature is a factor regulating northern mummichog reproduction; EE₂ overrides its effects and disrupts the terminal step of steroidogenesis. Our results should be considered in designing future estuarine fish bioassays and in understanding effects of estrogenic endocrine disruptors in estuaries.

2.2 Introduction

A significant body of literature has been developed that demonstrates the effects of environmental endocrine disrupting substances (EDSs) on fish reproductive physiology (Damstra *et al.*, 2002, Ankley & Johnson, 2004; Tarrant *et al.*, 2005; Hecker *et al.*, 2006; Sharpe *et al.*, 2007; Lister *et al.*, 2011). EDSs are introduced into aquatic environments through sewage treatment plant (STP) effluents (Desbrow *et al.*, 1998; Ternes *et al.*, 1999), agricultural run off (Colucci & Top., 2001; Burnison *et al.*, 2003), industrial waste (Castillo & Barceló, 1997; Hewitt *et al.* 2008) and oil spills (Rocha-Monteiro *et al.*, 2000; Martin-Skilton *et al.*, 2008). Among EDSs, estrogenic compounds are of major interest because they alter reproductive behaviour (Balch *et al.*, 2004; Larsen *et al.*, 2008; Salierno & Kane, 2009), fecundity (Nash *et al.*, 2004; Thorpe *et al.*, 2009) and the biosynthesis of terminal steroids (Loomis & Thomas, 2000; Baron *et al.*, 2005).

One of the most common estrogenic compounds found in the aquatic environment near STP discharging points is 17α -ethinylestradiol (EE₂; Desbrow *et al.*, 1998). EE₂ is a synthetic estrogen used in birth control pills and hormone replacement therapy. It is not fully removed by wastewater treatment and thus persists in treated effluents (Kuch & Bullschmiter, 2001; Jürgens *et al.*, 2002). EE₂ mimics the biologically-synthesized 17β estradiol (E₂), exhibiting higher affinity for the estrogen receptor (ER) in many species (Condeça & Canario, 1999; Segner *et al.*, 2003; Hogan *et al.*, 2010). This interaction triggers genomic and non-genomic responses, potentially affecting fish reproductive endocrine systems (Legler *et al.*, 2002; Thomas & Doughty, 2004; Filby *et al.*, 2007; Vasudevan & Pfaff, 2008).

The effects of EE_2 on circulating steroid levels have been well documented in fish. After exposure, E_2 was depressed in male goldfish (*Carassius auratus*) exposed to 29.6 and 296 ng/L EE₂ for 15 d (Martinyuk *et al.*, 2006) and in mummichog (*Fundulus* heteroclitus) exposed to 500 ng/L EE₂ for 7 d (MacLatchy et al., 2003) and to 100 ng/L-EE₂ for 21 d and 10 and 100 ng/L EE₂ for 28 d (Peters et al., 2007). Also, testosterone (T) was depressed in male goldfish (Martinyuk *et al.*, 2006) and female mummichog exposed to 100 ng/L EE₂ for 21 d (Peters *et al.*, 2007). Decreased circulating 11ketotestosterone (11-KT) occurred in male rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss) exposed to 100 ng/L of EE₂ for 62 d (Schultz et al., 2003), as well as in mummichog exposed to 1, 10 and 100 ng/L EE₂ for 21 d (Peters et al., 2007) and in juvenile turbot (Psetta maxima) when exposed to 3.5 and 75 ng/L EE₂ for 15 d (Labadie & Budzinski, 2006). EE₂ has also been shown to increase circulating 17,20β-dihydroxy-4-pregnen-3-one (17,20βP) levels in male rainbow trout (Schultz et al., 2003). Variations in response patterns may be due the timing of exposure in relation to the reproductive endocrine cycle and when the fish were sampled.

Gonadal incubations have been useful tools for elucidating effects and mechanisms of action of EDSs on steroidogenesis. After exposure to EE_2 , there was a significant decrease in gonadal production of 11-KT in male juvenile turbot (3.5 and 75 ng/L EE_2 for 15 d, Labadie & Budzinski, 2006), and a significant depression of E_2 production in mummichog ovaries (500 ng/L EE_2 for 7 d, MacLatchy *et al.*, 2003; 10 ng/L EE_2 for 28 d, Peters *et al.*, 2007). In addition, steroidogenic precursors used in gonadal incubations have helped to determine the mechanistic effects of EE_2 . Androstenedione (Figure 1.2) used in sea bream (*Sparus aurata*) gonadal incubations

demonstrated that exposure *in vivo* to EE₂ (15 mg of EE₂/kg of diet for 14 weeks) produces an increase in T and E₂ production after 14 weeks of exposure. It was also demonstrated that the effect of EE₂ was downstream of the conversion of androstenedione to T (Condeça & Canario, 1999). Forskolin, which activates adenylate cyclase, thus increase levels of cellular cAMP, was used in female pearl dace (*Margariscus margarita*) gonadal incubations, and indicated that an increase in T and a decrease in E₂ was downstream of cAMP activation, when fish were previously exposed to EE₂ (4-8 ng/L; 21 weeks; Palace *et al.*, 2006). The addition of 25-OH cholesterol (analogue to cholesterol which can pass through the mitochondrial membrane) to male gonadal incubations demonstrated that exposure of mummichog to EE₂ (250 ng/L for 14 d) resulted in a reduction in T production downstream of cholesterol mobilization (Hogan *et al.*, 2010).

Fish living in estuaries experience daily fluctuations in salinity and temperature as well as potential exposure to estrogenic contaminants from coastal discharges. Both salinity and temperature affect fish steroidogenesis. An increase in salinity from 0 ppt to 32 ppt produced an increase in plasma E_2 in pre-spawning and spawning waigieu sea perch (*Psammoperca waigiensis*) females and an increase in T levels during the prespawning period (Quoc Pham *et al.*, 2010). Higher plasma 11-KT and 17,20 β P were observed in black bream (*Acanthopagrus butcheri*) exposed to 35 ppt compared to 5 ppt salinity, when analyzed through a natural cycle (Haddy & Pankhurst, 2000). An increase in temperature from 12-15 to 18°C caused a decrease in E_2 and T in female rainbow trout follicles (Pankhurst *et al.*, 1996). Similarly, in pejerrey (*Odontesthes bonaeriensis*) an increase in water temperature from 19 to 27°C caused a decrease in plasma T and E_2 (Soria *et al.*, 2008).

To date, the majority of studies on the effects of EDSs and their mechanisms of action have used standardized laboratory conditions (e.g., a fixed salinity and temperature). Studies on the interactions of environmental variables and EDSs on reproductive responses are warranted, both from the perspective of understanding the applicability of standardized conditions in fish reproductive tests, as well as determining the potential impact of changing environmental parameters on EDS responses in estuarine fish in the wild. Mummichog is an ideal species to investigate the effects of environmental conditions on responses to EDSs, as this species has shown reproductive endocrine sensitivity to EDSs, particularly to EE₂ (MacLatchy *et al.*, 2003; Peters *et al.*, 2007; 2010; Hogan *et al.*, 2010). Additionally, mummichog experience daily variations in salinity and temperature and are adapted to the characteristic fluctuations of estuarine ecosystems, surviving in salinities between 0.0 to 120.3 ppt and temperatures from -1.5°C to 36.3° C (Kneib, 1986; Burnett *et al.*, 2007).

The objective of this study was to evaluate if variations in salinity or temperature modified the effect of EE_2 exposure on reproductive endocrine endpoints in mummichog. Male and female fish were exposed for 14 d to 50 and 250 ng/L of EE_2 and gonad size, plasma steroid levels, gonadal steroid production and ovarian aromatase expression were assessed. The results indicate that environmental conditions do cause modifications of EE_2 responses in mummichog.

2.3. Materials and Methods

2.3.1 Chemicals and supplies

17α-Ethinylestradiol (EE₂), testosterone (T) and 17β-estradiol (E₂) standards, 3isobutyl-1-methylxanthine (IBMX) and the steroidogenic precursors (see details in 2.3.5) were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich (Oakville, ON, Canada). Concentrated stocks of EE₂ were prepared in 100% ethanol at a concentration of 1000 ng/L and 5000 ng/L of EE₂ and stored in glass bottles at -20°C. All remaining supplies were purchased from Fisher Scientific (Ottawa, ON) or as otherwise described in the methodology.

2.3.2 Animal holding

Adult mummichog were collected from the Shediac area, New Brunswick, Canada (46° 16'N; 64° 30'W). Fish were kept at the University of New Brunswick, Saint John, NB at 16 ppt of salinity in 250L fiberglass tanks, at room temperature, 16 h light:8 h dark and \geq 80% dissolved oxygen (DO). Fish were fed *ad libitum* daily with commercial pellets (Corey Feed Mills, Fredericton, NB) and mortality was less than 5%. Prior to the exposures, temperature and salinity were adjusted by increasing or decreasing daily temperature and salinity by 2°C and/or 3 ppt progressively until the desired temperature or salinity was reached. The source of fresh water was dechlorinated Saint John city water, while sea water was filtered from the Bay of Fundy (32 ppt). Brackish water (16 ppt) was made by combining sea and fresh water.

2.3.3 Exposures

For the salinity exposure, three females and three males were randomly chosen from the stock tanks and put into 20L glass tanks (four replicates per treatment) at salinities of 0 (fresh water), 16 (brackish water) and 32 (full sea water) ppt at 18°C for one week prior to start of the exposures. Fish were exposed for 14 d (August 24 to September 7, 2010) to EE_2 under static conditions, with daily water renewal. EE_2 treatments were 0, 50 and 250 ng/L (nominal) delivered in 1 mL of ethanol following the daily water exchange. Photoperiod, DO and feeding regimen were maintained as during the holding period.

For the temperature exposure, the experimental set up was as previously described for the salinity exposure. However, temperatures were set at 10, 18 and 26°C, with salinity maintained at 16ppt in all treatments, and EE_2 concentrations were 0 and 250 ng/L.

2.3.4 Sampling

On day 14, all fish were randomly (by tank) anaesthetized with buffered 0.05% tricaine methane sulfonate (Syndel Laboratories, Vancouver, BC, Canada), bled from the caudal vasculature using heparinized 26 3/8 gauge needles on 1 mL syringes, and killed by spinal severance (in accordance with the guidelines of the Canadian Council on Animal Care and the Local Animal Care Committee at the University of New Brunswick). Fish were weighed ($\pm 0.01g$) and measured for length ($\pm mm$), and the gonads

and liver were dissected and weighed ($\pm 0.001g$). Gonad weight relative to body weight (expressed as gonadal somatic index [GSI; 100×gonad wt/body wt]) and liver weight relative to body weight (expressed as liver somatic index [LSI: 100×liver wt/body wt]) were calculated. The blood was centrifuged ($3000 \times g$ at 4°C, Sorvall Legend RT Centrifuge; Thermo Scientific, Nepean, ON) for 20 min to isolate plasma (MacLatchy *et al.*, 2005). Plasma was stored at -20°C for later steroid measurement by radioimmunoassay (RIA) or enzymatic immunoassay (EIA). The dissected gonads were placed into fresh Medium 199, prepared according to McMaster *et al.* (1995) (pH = 7.4) and supplemented as suggested by MacLatchy *et al.* (2005) with IBMX at a final concentration of 1 mM at the start of the incubation.

2.3.5 In vitro incubation protocol

The incubation protocol was based on McMaster *et al.* (1995) and MacLatchy *et al.* (2005). A minor variation to the protocol was implemented as follows: one piece of ovary/testes from each fish was pooled with tissue from the other fish of the same sex within the same treatment tank. The combined tissue samples were placed in the same treatment well in a 24-well incubation plate (18-23 mg of tissue per well). There were four replicates per treatment. Gonads were incubated for a period of 18 h at 18°C in both basal medium and media with steroidogenic precursors. The basal medium was composed of Medium 199 and IBMX. Steroidogenic precursors and their concentrations were chosen according to McMaster *et al.* (1995) and were as follows: in the ovarian

incubation 25-OH cholesterol (5 μ g/mL) to identify effects downstream of cholesterol mobilization into mitochondria; pregnenolone (100 ng/mL) to identify effects downstream of pregnenolone/P450scc; and testosterone (100 ng/mL) to identify effects downstream of testosterone/aromatase. The testes were only incubated with 25-OH cholesterol (5 μ g/mL) due to limited tissue availability. After 18 h of incubation, the medium from each well was drawn into 1.5 mL eppendorf tubes. The tissue was discarded and the tubes were kept frozen at -20°C until RIA or EIA analysis.

2.3.6 Radioimmunoassay and enzymatic immunoassay

Plasma samples were prepared for RIA and EIA by extracting the steroids and reconstituting them in a phosgel assay buffer (MacLatchy *et al.*, 2005). The extraction process was repeated three times prior to reconstitution. RIA (MacLatchy *et al.*, 2005) was used to determine the T and E_2 concentrations in female plasma and gonadal incubation media and T in male plasma and gonadal incubation media. Antibodies for T and E_2 were purchased from Medicorp (Montreal, QC, Canada) and radiolabelled T and E_2 from Perkin-Elmer (Waltham, MA, USA). EIA kits were used to measure 11-KT in male plasma and gonadal incubation media. Kits were obtained from Cayman Chemical Co. (Ann Arbour, MI, USA) and the manufacturer's protocol (http://www.caymanchem.com/) was followed with the exception that 25 µL of sample and 25 µL of EIA buffer were used instead of 50 µL of sample and buffer. EIA plates were read in a Spectramax M2 spectrophotometer (Molecular Devices, Sunnyvale, CA) Model at 412 nm after 60, 90 and 120 min to determine the optimum incubation time. All

inter- and intra-assay variations were within acceptable limits (<10% for intra-assay and <15% for inter-assay).

2.3.7 Ovarian P450 Aromatase A (cyp19a) gene expression

Ovarian P450 aromatase A gene expression was analyzed in ovarian tissue of fish held at 16 ppt and in 18°C, at 0, 50 and 250 ng/L EE_2 , to investigate a possible mechanism of action of EE_2 . The analysis methods are described as follows.

2.3.7.1. RNA extraction and quantification

Total RNA extraction, quantification and reverse transcription reactions were conducted similarly to Ings & Van Der Kraak (2006) and Nelson & Van Der Kraak (2010). Total RNA was extracted from ovarian follicles using TRIzol reagent according to the manufacturer's protocol (Invitrogen, Burlington, ON). Following the extraction, total RNA was pelleted by centrifugation, rinsed with 75% ethanol, then reconstituted in 20-30 μ L RNase-free water (Invitrogen) and incubated at 60°C for 10 min to fully dissolve the RNA pellet. Absorbance of RNA was measured at wavelengths of 260 nm and 280 nm using a NanoDrop 8000 spectrophotometer (Thermo Scientific, Waltham, MA). All samples had an A260/A280 ratio between 1.8 and 2.2.

2.3.7.2. Reverse transcription

RNA was diluted in RNase-free water to a concentration of 1 μ g/ μ L and 2 μ g was used in reverse transcription (RT) reactions to generate cDNA. Each sample was treated with 1 μ L DNase 1 (AMP-D1, Sigma-Aldrich) according to the manufacturer's protocol. Random primers (0.01 ng, Promega, Madison, WI, USA) were added to each sample then incubated for 5 min at 70°C. A cocktail consisting of 5x RT buffer (50 mM Tris–HCl, 75 mM KCl, 3 mM MgCl₂, Invitrogen), RNase-free water, dNTPs (0.5 mM, Roche Molecular Biochemicals, Laval, QC), DTT (10 mM, Invitrogen) and M-MLV reverse transcriptase (200 U, Invitrogen) was added to each sample to obtain a final volume of 25 μ L. The reverse transcription reactions were completed in an Eppendorf Mastercycler Gradient thermocycler (Eppendorf, Hamburg, Germany) for 1 h at 37°C, followed by 5 min at 90°C, then diluted 5-fold and stored at -20°C until qPCR amplification.

2.3.7.3. Quantitative PCR

cDNA was amplified using the SYBR method and StepOnePlus Real-Time PCR System (Applied Biosystems, CA, USA). The reaction contained 3.75 μ L of cDNA template, 7.5 μ l PerfeCTa SYBR Green FastMix (Quanta Biosciences, Gaithersburg, MD, USA), and 1.875 μ L of forward and reverse primers (1.6 μ M, Sigma-Aldrich). Primer sequences are shown in Table 2.1.

The cycle consisted of 5 min at 95°C, then 40 cycles of 1 s at 95°C, followed by 30 s at 60°C. The expression levels of elongation factor-1 α (*ef1* α) remained unchanged

across treatments and were used as an endogenous control gene to normalize the gene of interest. A four-point standard curve was run for each gene in order to quantify gene expression.

Table 2.1: Primer sequences analyzed (FWD means forward primer and REV means reverse primer).

Gene		Sequence 5'-3'	Accession Number		
Aromatase A (cyp19a)	FWD REV	TGCCCCTCGACGAGAAAG GTAGATGTCGGGTTTGATCAGCA	AY713118.1		
Elongation factor-1α (ef1a)	FWD REV	ACCAGAAAGTACTACGTGACCATC TCAGCCTGGAGGTACCG	AY430091		

2.3.8. Statistics

Statistical analysis was conducted using SPSS 17.0 (IBM Canada Ltd., Markham, ON) or Sigma Plot (Systat Software INC, Chicago, IL, USA). Two-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) was performed to assess the effect of salinity or temperature (factor 1) and EE₂ (factor 2) on the measured endpoints. The effect of the two main factors on body weight, liver weight, gonad weight, plasma steroid levels and gonadal steroid levels were analyzed by two-way ANOVA. When there was no factor interaction or no effect of salinity or temperature, data were pooled to analyze the effect of EE₂ by one- or two-way ANOVA, as required. When interaction or a salinity/temperature effect on the basal incubation media was present, the effect of EE₂ on steroidogenesis was analyzed separately in each salinity or temperature. Liver weight and gonad weight relative to body weight were analyzed by two-way analysis of covariance (ANCOVA) with body weight

as covariant. Assumptions of normality and homogeneity of variance were checked using Shapiro-Wilk's W test and Levene's test, respectively. If there was no normal distribution of the data, log transformations were conducted and normality was tested for a second time. In case of normality failure after the statistical transformations in the two-way ANOVA, due to the robustness of the ANOVA test, the post hoc tests were analyzed without considering the normality failure of the ANOVA. For the one-way ANOVA, the non-parametric Kruskal-Wallis test was performed if normality was not met following log transformation. Tests in which post hoc tests were used even if there was a failure of normality of the two-way ANOVA are indicated as NP and tests in which the Kruskal-Wallis test was used as the non parametric alternate to the one-way ANOVA are indicated as KW in section 2.4. The parametric Tukey's test was performed as post hoc analysis, for pair wise comparisons. In all cases, an alpha value of 0.05 was chosen.

Gene expression data were analyzed using one-way ANOVA. Normality and homogeneity of variance were tested as previously described. A Dunnett's test was conducted as a post hoc test. Data were log transformed since they did not initially meet the normality assumption.

2.4.1. Effects of EE₂ under differing saline conditions

2.4.1.1. Organ weights and somatic indices

There was no interaction between salinity and EE₂ (p=0.240), nor effect of salinity (p=0.163) or EE₂ (p=0.536) on female weight (Table 2.2). In males, there was no interaction between salinity and EE₂ (p=0.133), but there was a significant effect of salinity on male weight. Body weight of fish in 32 ppt was higher than in 16 (p<0.001) or 0 (p<0.001) ppt. There was no effect of EE₂ on male weight (p=0.406). There was no significant effect of salinity (p=0.086) nor EE₂ (p=0.717) on female liver weight. There was no interaction (p=0.291), but there was a significant effect of EE₂ on male liver weight with the increase in salinity (p<0.001). There was no significant effect of EE₂ on male liver weight (p=0.515; Table 2.2). No interaction between salinity and EE₂ (p=0.820), nor significant effect of salinity (p=0.695), nor effect of EE₂ (p=0.647) was found when female gonad weight was analyzed. In addition, there was a significant increase in male gonad weight with the increase in salinity (p=0.816), but there was a significant increase in male gonad weight (p=0.076; Table 2.2).

For female LSI, there was interaction between salinity and EE_2 (p=0.044), but the post hoc tests were not able to distinguish between treatments. In males, there was no interaction between the two main factors (p=0.654, data not shown), but there was a

significant effect of salinity on LSI (p<0.001). Males in 32 ppt had higher LSI than males in 16 ppt. There was no effect of EE₂ on LSI on males (p=0.480; Table 2.2).

In females, there was no interaction between the two main factors (p=0.940) or effect of salinity (p=0.218) on female GSI. There was no effect of EE_2 on female GSI (p=0.269). In males there was no interaction between salinity and EE_2 (p=0.813), but there was a significant effect of salinity on male GSI (p<0.001) as in 32 ppt male GSI was higher than in 0 and 16 ppt. There was no effect of EE_2 on male GSI (p=0.269; Table 2.2).

2.4.1.2. Plasma steroid analysis in females

There was no significant interaction of salinity and EE₂ on female plasma T or E₂ (p=0.601, p=0.186; data not shown). Neither salinity (p=0.387) nor EE₂ (p=0.837) affected female plasma testosterone levels (Figure 2.1A). There was no effect of salinity on plasma E₂ levels (p=0.902; Figure 2.1B); however, 250 ng/L EE₂ caused a significant reduction of female plasma E₂ levels (p=0.045) at 16 ppt (Figure 2.1B; Table 2.3).

2.4.1.3. Gonadal steroid production in females

In the ovarian incubations, there was interaction between salinity and EE_2 when female T was analyzed (p<0.001; data not shown). At 0 ppt, there was a significant increase in T production in the basal medium of 250 ng/L EE_2 -exposed fish (p=0.036; Figure 2.2A (NP)). There was no change in female basal T production (p=0.649; Figure 2.2B). There was a significant decrease in 25-OH cholesterol stimulated T incubations in the 250 compared to the 50 ng/L exposure (p=0.044; Figure 2.2B (NP)) in females exposed to EE₂ in 16 ppt. Females kept at 32 ppt had a significant reduction in the basal production of T at 50 ng/L and 250 ng/L of EE₂ (p<0.001; p=0.005, respectively; Figure 2.2C). There was no interaction between salinity and EE₂ on basal E₂ production (p=0.436; data not shown), and no effect of salinity on biosynthesis of E₂ in basal media (p=0.680; data not shown). When salinity data were combined, females exposed to 250 ng/L EE₂ showed a significant reduction in E₂ production in the basal (p<0.001), 25-OH cholesterol (p=0.004), pregnenolone (p<0.001) and testosterone (p=0.029) incubated ovaries (Figure 2.2D; Table 2.3).

2.4.1.4. Plasma steroid analysis in males

In males, there was no significant interaction between salinity and EE₂ (p=0.152; p=0.475; data not shown) and no significant effect of the salinity (p=0.269; Figure 2.1C; p=0.678; Figure 2.1D) on the plasma T and 11-KT concentrations, respectively. There was no effect of EE₂ (p=0.584; Figure 2.1C) on the plasma T level, but there was a significant reduction of plasma 11-KT level in 250 ng/L-exposed males at all the salinities (p=0.004) when compared to the control group (Figure 2.1D; Table 2.4).

2.4.1.5. Gonadal steroid production in males

There was a significant interaction of salinity and EE₂ when the testes were incubated in basal medium (p<0.001; data not shown). At 0 ppt, 50 ng/L of EE₂ produced a significant reduction in the basal production of gonadal T in males (p=0.01; Figure 2.3A) and there was a significantly greater T production in 250 ng/L-exposed males than in the 50 ng/L group in 25-OH cholesterol stimulated incubations (p=0.002; Figure 2.3A). At 16 ppt, there was a significant decrease in the production of T in 50 (p<0.001) and 250 ng/L (p<0.001) EE₂-exposed males compared to the controls when the gonads were incubated with 25-OH cholesterol (Figure 2.3B). At 32 ppt, there was a significant effect of EE₂ on the production of T in the testes (p=0.01); however, as a result of high variability, the Tukey's test could not discriminate which group(s) differ (Figure 2.3C; Table 2.4).

There was no interaction between salinity and EE_2 when production of 11-KT by pieces of testes was analyzed (p=0.944; data not shown), but there was a strong decrease in gonadal 11-KT caused by an increase of salinity (p=0.016; data not shown). There was no significant effect of EE_2 on 11-KT production at any salinity (0 ppt, p=0.082, Figure 2.3D; 16 ppt, p=0.096, Figure 2.3E; 32 ppt, p=0.407, Figure 2.3F; Table 2.4).

2.4.2. Effects of EE₂ under differing temperature conditions

2.4.2.1. Organ weights and somatic indices

There was no interaction between temperature and EE₂ (p=0.399), and no effect of temperature (p=0.489) or EE₂ (p=0.522) on female weight. In males, there was no interaction between the two main factors (p=0.431) and no effect of temperature (p=0.943) nor EE₂ (0.839) on body weight. There was no significant effect of temperature (p=0.958), nor effect of EE₂ (p=0.341), on female liver weight. Temperature significantly decreased male liver weight (p=0.043) and when males were kept at 26°C EE₂ significantly decreased liver weight (p=0.013). When female gonad weight was analyzed, there was no significant interaction between the two main factors (p=0.122), but there was a change in gonad weight with temperature increase (p<0.001). There was no interaction between the main factors (p=0.068), but temperature increment significantly increased male gonad weight with temperature, when males were kept at 18 (p=0.029) and 26°C (p=0.001), compared to 10°C (Table 2.2).

In females there was no interaction between temperature and EE₂ (p=0.364), but there was a significant decrease of LSI with the temperature increase (p<0.001). There was no effect of EE₂ on female LSI (p=0.473). There was no interaction between the two main factors when male LSI was analyzed (p=0.614). There was no significant effect of temperature on male LSI (p=0.069). EE₂ significantly affected male LSI (p=0.024), but as a result of high variability the post hoc test could not distinguish between exposure levels (Table 2.2). There was no interaction between temperature and EE₂ (p=0.072) on female GSI, and no effect of EE₂ (p=0.440). Female GSI increased with temperature; at 26°C female GSI was higher in the control group than at 18 or 10°C (p<0.001). In males, there was significant interaction between the two main factors (p=0.035), and an increase in temperature significantly increased male GSI (p=0.04). EE₂ significantly decreased GSI (p=0.01) when males were exposed to 250 ng/L and were held at 26°C (Table 2.2).

2.4.2.2. Plasma steroid analysis in females

There was neither an interaction between temperature and EE₂ (p=0.694; data not shown), nor an effect of temperature (p=0.293; Figure 2.4A), on female plasma T circulating levels. There was no effect of EE₂ (p=0.463) on female T plasma levels (Figure 2.4A). There was no interaction between temperature and EE₂ on plasma estradiol (p=0.129; data not shown). There was a strong effect of temperature on E₂ levels in plasma in the control group held at 18 and 26°C compared to the control group at 10°C (p<0.001; Figure 2.4B). At 18°C and 26°C there were 4- and 3-fold higher plasma E₂ levels, respectively, than E₂ levels in females kept at 10°C (Figure 2.4B). There was a significant reduction in plasma E₂ when females were exposed to 250 ng/L of EE₂ at 18°C (p=0.015; Figure 2.4B) (Table 2.5).

2.4.2.3. Gonadal steroid production in females

When analyzing the gonadal T production in ovaries, it was shown that there was a significant interaction between temperature and EE₂ (p=0.036; data not shown). At 10°C, EE₂ caused a significant reduction of basal (p<0.001; Figure 2.5A), 25-OH cholesterol- (p=0.001; Figure 2.5A) and pregnenolone-stimulated ovarian T production (p=0.004; Figure 2.5A). At 18°C, EE₂ did not affect production of T in the ovaries (p=0.327; Figure 2.5B). When females were kept at 26°C, there was a significant reduction of female gonadal T when exposed to 250 ng/L of EE₂ but only when the gonads were incubated in the presence of 25-OH cholesterol (p=0.004; Figure 2.5C; Table 2.5).

There was no interaction between temperature and EE₂ for ovarian E₂ production (p=0.537; data not shown). There was a significant effect of temperature on the E₂ production (p=0.002; data not shown) in basal-incubated ovaries. Females maintained at 10°C showed a reduction of E₂ production only in the presence of testosterone (p=0.018; Figure 2.5D). Mummichog females kept at 18°C and exposed to 250 ng/L of EE₂ showed a significant reduction in ovarian E₂ production when the gonads were incubated with 25-OH cholesterol (p=0.002; Figure 2.5E); pregnenolone (p<0.001; Figure 2.5E) and testosterone (p=0.006; Figure 2.5E). At 26°C, when pregnenolone and testosterone were present in the incubation media, there was a significant reduction in ovarian E₂ production in those fish exposed to 250 ng/L (p=0.021 and p<0.001, respectively; Figure 2.5F; Table 2.5).

2.4.2.4. Plasma steroid analysis in males

For male plasma T there was no interaction between temperature and EE_2 (p=0.606; data not shown) nor a significant effect of temperature on T levels (p=0.172). There was no significant effect of EE_2 on the plasma T (p=0.334; Figure 2.4C). There was no interaction between temperature and EE_2 (p=0.986; data not shown) nor effects of temperature on the plasma 11-KT levels (p=0.362). There was no effect of EE_2 on plasma 11-KT (p=0.109; Figure 2.4D; Table 2.6).

2.4.2.5. Gonadal steroid production in males

For male gonadal testosterone production, there was no interaction between temperature and EE₂ (p=0.052; data not shown) and no significant effect of temperature (p=0.170; data not shown). No significant effect of EE₂ on male testosterone production was found (p=0.107) when all the temperatures were combined (Figure 2.6A). There was no interaction between temperature and EE₂ for 11-KT production in males, (p=0.417; data not shown). However, there was a strong effect of temperature on 11-KT production in males (p<0.001, data not shown). At 10°C EE₂ did not significantly affect 11-KT production (p=0.395; Figure 2.6B). At 18°C there was a significant reduction in 11-KT production when fish were exposed to 250 ng/L of EE₂ and the testes were incubated in basal or 25-OH cholesterol media (p=0.015; Figure 2.6C). At 26°C, there was no significant effect of EE₂ on 11-KT production in males (p=0.945; Figure 2.6D; Table 2.6).

2.4.3 Effects of EE₂ on P450 aromatase A (cyp 19a) gene expression

There was no significant effect of EE_2 on P450 aromatase expression on those fish kept at 16 ppt and at 18°C (p=0.979; Figure 2.7).

Table 2.2: Mean \pm (SEM) weight, liver weight, liver somatic index (LSI) and gonadosomatic index (GSI) for adult female and male *Fundulus heteroclitus* exposed to EE₂ in differing salinities and differing temperature conditions. Differing lower case letters indicate significant differences for the EE₂ factor. Upper case letters indicate significant differences for the salinity or temperature factor.

	Salinity	EE2	Ν	Weight	Liver Weight	Gonad Weight	LSI	GSI
	(ppt)	(ng/L)	-	(g)	(g)	(g)	(%)	(%)
		0	12	10.71 <u>+</u> 1.08	0.38 <u>+</u> 0.04	0.59 <u>+</u> 0.13	3.55 <u>+</u> 0.23	4.96 <u>+</u> 0.81
	0	50	12	9.27 <u>+</u> 0.70	0.42 ± 0.05	0.59 <u>+</u> 0.10	4.45 <u>+</u> 0.34	6.32 <u>+</u> 1.09
		250	11	8.77 <u>+</u> 0.61	0.34 <u>+</u> 0.03	0.46 <u>+</u> 0.12	3.89 <u>+</u> 0.31	4.92 <u>+</u> 1.00
		0	12	9.24 <u>+</u> 0.85	0.30 <u>+</u> 0.03	0.54 <u>+</u> 0.12	3.35 <u>+</u> 0.22	5.56 <u>+</u> 0.99
Females	16	50	12	7.72 <u>+</u> 0.59	0.33 <u>+</u> 0.02	0.47 <u>+</u> 0.09	4.55 <u>+</u> 0.41	6.58 <u>+</u> 1.39
		250	12	8.60 <u>+</u> 0.65	0.29 <u>+</u> 0.02	0.40 <u>+</u> 0.08	3.43 <u>+</u> 0.20	4.36 <u>+</u> 0.7
		0	12	7.97 <u>+</u> 0.51	0.35 <u>+</u> 0.03	0.39 <u>+</u> 0.08	4.45 <u>+</u> 1.08	5.08 <u>+</u> 1.09
	32	50	12	8.68 <u>+</u> 0.60	0.34 <u>+</u> 0.04	0.52 <u>+</u> 0.08	3.92 <u>+</u> 0.34	5.98 <u>+</u> 0.86
		250	12	9.24 <u>+</u> 0.52	0.37 <u>+</u> 0.02	0.45 <u>+</u> 0.09	4.16 <u>+</u> 0.27	4.64 <u>+</u> 0.82
		0	12	5.82 <u>+</u> 0.37 ^A	0.22 ± 0.02^{A}	0.07 <u>+</u> 0.01 ^A	3.83 <u>+</u> 0.34 ^{A,B}	1.20 <u>+</u> 0.17 ^A
	0	50	12	5.82 ± 0.42^{A}	0.19 <u>+</u> 0.01 ^A	0.09 <u>+</u> 0.01 ^A	3.37 <u>+</u> 0.23 ^A	1.67 <u>+</u> 0.22 ^A
		250	11	4.86 <u>+</u> 0.39 ^A	0.16 <u>+</u> 0.01 ^A	0.05 ± 0.01^{A}	3.47 <u>+</u> 0.33 ^A	1.07 ± 0.12^{A}
		0	12	6.09 <u>+</u> 0.34 ^A	0.19 <u>+</u> 0.02 ^A	0.11 <u>+</u> 0.02 ^A	3.16 <u>+</u> 0.35 ^A	1.76 <u>+</u> 0.23 ^A
Males	16	50	12	6.47 <u>+</u> 0.71 ^A	0.19 ± 0.02^{A}	0.13 <u>+</u> 0.03 ^A	3.03 ± 0.22^{A}	1.89 <u>+</u> 0.25 ^A
		250	12	5.3 <u>+</u> 0.34 ^A	0.07 <u>+</u> 0.009 ^A	0.18 ± 0.01^{A}	3.42 ± 0.22^{A}	1.30 <u>+</u> 0.18 ^A
		0	12	8.68 ± 0.60^{B}	0.35 <u>+</u> 0.03 ^B	0.40 <u>+</u> 0.09 ^B	4.45 <u>+</u> 0.18 ^B	5.08 <u>+</u> 1.09 ^B
	32	50	12	8.68 ± 0.60^{B}	0.34 ± 0.04^{B}	0.52 ± 0.08^{B}	3.92 <u>+</u> 0.35 ^B	5.98 <u>+</u> 0.85 ^B
		250	12	9.24 <u>+</u> 0.51 ^B	0.37 ± 0.20^{B}	0.45 <u>+</u> 0.09 ^B	4.16 <u>+</u> 0.27 ^B	4.64 <u>+</u> 0.82 ^B
	Temp (°C)	EE2		Weight	Liver Weight	Gonad Weight	LSI	GSI
		(ng/L)	Ν	(g)	(g)	(g)	(%)	(%)
	10		12	8 41+0 64	0.40 ± 0.03^{A}	$0.3+0.07^{A}$	$479+02^{A}$	3 40+0 68 ^A
	10	250	12	9.67+0.56	0.42 ± 0.03^{A}	$0.68+0.21^{\text{A}}$	$4.43+0.23^{A}$	$6.21+1.62^{A}$
Females	18	0	12	9 24+0 85	$0.30+0.03^{A}$	0.54 ± 0.12^{A}	$335+022^{B}$	5.52 ± 0.99^{A}
		250	12	8.62 <u>+</u> 0.65	0.28 ± 0.02^{B}	0.4 ± 0.08^{A}	3.44 ± 0.2^{A}	4.37 ± 0.7^{A}
	26	0	12	9.15+0.82	0.30+0.02 ^A	1.13+0.17 ^B	3.43+0.22 ^B	11.95+1.05 ^B
		250	12	9.64 <u>+</u> 0.65	0.40 ± 0.08^{A}	0.91 ± 0.16^{A}	4.25 ± 0.9^{A}	9.02 <u>+</u> 1.59 ^A
	10	0	12	5.72 <u>+</u> 0.46	0.21 ± 0.02^{A}	0.06 <u>+</u> 0.01 ^{A,a}	3.80 <u>+</u> 0.23	1.11 <u>+</u> 0.12 ^{A,a}
	10	250	12	5.86 <u>+</u> 0.38	0.26 ± 0.02^{A}	$0.06 \pm 0.01^{A,a}$	4.57 <u>+</u> 0.30	$1.05 \pm 0.12^{A,a}$
Males	18	0	12	6.09 <u>+</u> 0.34	0.19 <u>+</u> 0.02 ^{A,B}	0.11 <u>+</u> 0.02 ^{B,a}	3.16 <u>+</u> 0.35	1.76 <u>+</u> 0.24 ^{A,B,a}
		250	12	5.31 <u>+</u> 0.34	0.18 ± 0.01^{B}	$0.07 \pm 0.01^{A,b}$	3.42 <u>+</u> 0.22	1.30 <u>+</u> 0.18 ^{A,a}
	26	0	12	5.43 <u>+</u> 0.56	0.13 <u>+</u> 0.01 ^B	0.13 <u>+</u> 0.01 ^{B,a}	2.56 <u>+</u> 0.23	2.20 <u>+</u> 0.21 ^{B,a}
		250	11	5.82 <u>+</u> 0.70	0.22 <u>+</u> 0.07 ^{A,B}	0.07 <u>+</u> 0.01 ^{A,b}	3.80 <u>+</u> 1.04	1.22 <u>+</u> 0.22 ^{A,b}

Figure 2.1: Effects of EE₂ (50 and 250 ng/L) on plasma steroid levels in mummichog (*Fundulus heteroclitus*) kept in differing saline conditions (0, 16 and 32 ppt). Bars represent means \pm SEM. Differing letters indicate significant differences. N = 4 tanks per treatment. A: Effects of EE₂ on female plasma testosterone (p=0.837). B: Effects of EE₂ on female plasma estradiol (p=0.045). C: Effects of EE₂ on male plasma testosterone (11-KT) with salinity data combined (p=0.004). FW = fresh water (0 ppt); BW = brackish water (16 ppt); SW = salt water (32 ppt). LOG = data log transformed prior to statistical analysis.



LOG

Figure 2.2: Effects of EE₂ (50 and 250 ng/L) on steroid production in ovarian pieces incubated from mummichog (*Fundulus heteroclitus*) held in differing saline conditions (0, 16 and 32 ppt). Bars represent means \pm SEM. Differing letters indicate significant differences. N = 4 tanks per treatment. Ba = basal medium; 25-OH C = 25-OH cholesterol-stimulated medium; P = pregnenolone-stimulated medium; and T = testosterone-stimulated medium. A: Effects of EE₂ on ovarian testosterone production in females kept at 0 ppt (p=0.036). B: Effects of EE₂ on ovarian testosterone production in females kept at 32 ppt (p<0.001 for 50ng/L of EE₂; p=0.005 for 250ng/L of EE₂). D: Effects of EE₂ on ovarian estradiol production with salinity data combined (p<0.001 for Ba; p=0.004 for 25-OH C; p<0.001 for P and p=0.029 for T). FW = fresh water (0 ppt); BW = brackish water (16 ppt); SW = salt water (32 ppt).



Figure 2.3: Effects of EE₂ (50 and 250 ng/L) on steroid production in pieces of testes incubated from mummichog (*Fundulus heteroclitus*) held in differing saline conditions (0, 16 and 32 ppt). Bars represent means \pm SEM. Differing letters indicate significant differences. N = 4 tanks per treatment. Ba = basal medium; 25-OH C = 25-OH cholesterol-stimulated medium. A: Effects of EE₂ on testosterone production in males kept at 0 ppt (p=0.01). B: Effects of EE₂ on testosterone production in males kept at 16 ppt (p<0.001 when exposed to 50 and 250 ng/L of EE₂). C: Effects of EE₂ on testosterone production in males kept at 32 ppt (p=0.01). D: Effects of EE₂ on 11-ketotestosterone (11-KT) production in fish kept at 0 ppt (p=0.096). F: Effects of EE₂ on 11-KT production in males kept at 32 ppt (p=0.096). F: Effects of EE₂ on 11-KT production in males kept at 32 ppt (p=0.407). LOG = data log transformed prior to statistical analysis.



0

Ba

Treatment-Precursors

25-OH C

0

Ba

Treatment-Precursors

25-OH C
Figure 2.4: Effects of 250 ng/L of EE₂ on plasma steroid levels in mummichog (*Fundulus heteroclitus*) kept in differing temperature conditions (10, 18 and 26°C). Bars represent means \pm SEM. Differing lower case letters indicate significant differences for the EE₂ factor. N = 4 tanks per treatment. Upper case letters indicate the effects of temperature on plasma steroid levels. A: Effects of EE₂ on female plasma testosterone (p=0.463). B: Effects of EE₂ on female plasma estradiol (p=0.015). C: Effects of EE₂ on male plasma testosterone (p=0.334). D: Effects of EE₂ on male plasma 11-ketotestosterone (p=0.109). LOG = data log transformed prior to statistical analysis.



Figure 2.5: Effects of 250 ng/L of EE₂ on steroid production in ovarian pieces incubated from mummichog (*Fundulus heteroclitus*) held in differing temperature conditions (10, 18 and 26°C). Bars represent means \pm SEM. Differing letters indicate significant differences. N = 4 tanks per treatment. Ba = basal medium; 25-OH C = 25-OH cholesterol-stimulated medium; P = pregnenolone-stimulated medium; and T = testosterone-stimulated medium. A: Effects of EE₂ on ovarian testosterone production in females kept at 10°C (p<0.001). B: Effects of EE₂ on ovarian testosterone production in females kept at 18°C (p=0.327). C: Effects of EE₂ on ovarian testosterone production in females kept at 26°C (p=0.004). D: Effects of EE₂ on ovarian estradiol production in females kept at 10°C (p=0.018). E: Effects of EE₂ on ovarian estradiol production in females kept at 18°C (p=0.002 for 25-OH C; p<0.001 for P and p=0.006 for T). F: Effects of EE₂ on ovarian estradiol production in females kept at 18°C (p=0.002 for 25-OH C; p<0.001 for P and p=0.006 for T). F: Effects of EE₂ on ovarian estradiol production in females kept at 26°C (p=0.021 for P and p<0.001 for T). LOG = data log transformed prior to statistical analysis.





20

0

Ba

25-OH C

Treatments-Precursors

b

25-OH C

Treatments-Precursors

Ρ

т

LOG

0

Ba

Р

LOG

т

Figure 2.6: Effects of 250 ng/L of EE₂ on steroid production in pieces of testes incubated from mummichog (*Fundulus heteroclitus*) held in differing temperature conditions (10, 18 and 26°C). Bars represent means \pm SEM. Differing letters indicate significant differences. N = 4 tanks per treatment. Ba = basal medium; 25-OH C = 25-OH cholesterol-stimulated medium. A: Effects of EE₂ on testosterone production in males (p=0.107). B: Effects of EE₂ on 11-ketotestosterone production in males kept at 10°C (p=0.395). C: Effects of EE₂ on 11-ketotestosterone production in males kept at 18°C (p=0.015). D: Effects of EE₂ on 11-ketotestosterone production in fish kept at 26°C (p=0.945). LOG = data log transformed prior to statistical analysis.





Table 2.3: Summary of effects of EE_2 (50 and 250 ng/L) on plasma steroids and gonadal biosynthesis of steroids in female mumnichog *(Fundulus heteroclitus)* held in differing saline conditions (0, 16 and 32 ppt). Ba = basal; 25C = 25-OH cholesterol-stimulated medium; P = pregnenolone-stimulated medium and T = testosterone-stimulated medium; Sa = salinity. \uparrow indicates significant increase; \downarrow indicates significant decrease; = indicates no difference.

Steroid															
	Testosterone								17β-Estradiol						
oids	EE ₂ (ng/L) Sa (ppt)	50			250		50			250					
Plasma Sterc	0	=			=		=		=						
	16	=		=		=			Ļ						
	32	! =			=		=		=						
al Steroid Production	Precursor Sa (ppt)	Ва	25 C	Ρ	Ba	25 C	Ρ	Ва	25 C	Ρ	т	Ba	25 C	Ρ	т
	0	=	=	=	1	=	=	=	=	=	=	Ļ	Ļ	Ļ	Ļ
	16	=	=	=	=	ļ	=	=	=	=	=	ļ	↓	ļ	ļ
Gonad	32	Ļ	=	=	↓	-	=	=	=	=	=	Ļ	Ļ	ļ	ļ

Table 2.4: Summary of effects of EE_2 (50 and 250 ng/L) on plasma steroids and gonadal biosynthesis of steroids in male mummichog (*Fundulus heteroclitus*) held in differing saline conditions (0, 16 and 32 ppt). Ba = basal; 25C = 25-OH cholesterol-stimulated medium; Sa = salinity. \uparrow indicates significant increase; \downarrow indicates significant decrease; = indicates no difference.

	Steroids								
oids		Τe	estoste	erone		11-Ketotestosterone			
	EE2 (ng/L) Sa (ppt)	50		250		50		250	
na Ster	0	=		=		=		\downarrow	
Plasr	16	=		=		=		Ļ	
	32	=		=		:	=	Ļ	
Gonadal Steroid Production	precursor Sa (ppt)	Ва	25C	Ba	25C	Ва	25C	Ва	25C
	0	↓	=	=	1	=	=	=	=
	16	=	=	ļ	Ļ	=	=	=	=
	32	=	=	=	=	=	=	=	=

Table 2.5: Summary of effects of EE_2 (250 ng/L) on plasma steroids and gonadal biosynthesis of steroids in female mumnichog *(Fundulus heteroclitus)* held in differing temperature conditions (10, 18 and 26°C). Ba = basal; 25C = 25-OH cholesterol-stimulated medium; P = pregnenolone-stimulated medium and T = testosterone-stimulated medium. \downarrow indicates significant decrease; = indicates no difference.

Steroids								
oids		Test	osteron	е	17β-Estradiol			
	EE2 (ng/L) Temp (°C)		250		250			
na Ste	10		=		=			
Plasn	18		=		Ļ			
	26		=			=	:	
luction	Procuisor Temp	Ва	25C	Ρ	Ва	25C	Ρ	т
al Steroid Prod	10	Ļ	ļ	ļ	=	=	=	Ļ
	18	=	=	=	=	Ļ	Ļ	Ļ
Gonad	26	=	ļ	=	=	=	Ļ	ļ

Table 2.6: Summary of effects of EE_2 (250 ng/L) on plasma steroids and gonadal biosynthesis of steroids in male mumnichog *(Fundulus heteroclitus)* held in differing temperature conditions (10, 18 and 26°C). Ba = basal; 25C = 25-OH cholesterol-stimulated medium; P = pregnenolone-stimulated medium and T = testosterone-stimulated medium. \downarrow indicates significant decrease; = indicates no difference.

	Steroids							
		Testost	erone	11-Ketotestosterone				
roids	EE2 (rg/L) Temp (°C)	25	0	250				
na Ste	10	=		=				
Plasr	18	=		=				
	26	=		=				
duction	Procuisor Temp (°C)	Ва	25C	Ва	25C			
oid Pro	10	=	=	=	=			
Gonadal Sterc	18	=	=	ļ	Ļ			
	26	=	=	=	=			



Control	EEZ[OU]	EEZ[200]	
	Treatment		

2.5. Discussion

This study advances our understanding of effects of EE₂ and environmental parameters on reproductive endocrine status in fish. While salinity alone had limited impact, effects of EE_2 at 250 ng/L confirmed that EE_2 depresses reproductive endocrine endpoints in fish (MacLatchy et al., 2003; Martyniuk et al., 2006; Hogan et al., 2010). These depressions occurred across all salinities as indicated by decreased plasma $E_{2} \mbox{ and } E_{2}$ E₂ production in females and decreased plasma 11-KT in males. Temperature was further established as a significant environmental factor regulating northern mummichog (Fundulus heteroclitus macrolepidotus) reproduction (McMullin et al., 2009). Increased temperature triggered gonadal growth and maturation in both females and males. In addition, plasma E₂ levels and E₂ production in females increased with temperature, whereas 11-KT production in males decreased with temperature. Most notably, EE_2 counteracted temperature-related effects, depressing the temperature-induced increases in gonad size in males. The lack of effects of salinity in general could be protective in a species that reproduces in a highly-variable saline environment. The responses to EE2 at higher temperatures could be due to temperature-related increases in uptake of EE₂ (Blewett, 2011) and/or increased susceptibility during temperature-induced gonadal maturation.

2.5.1. Exposure concentrations

The EE_2 concentrations used in our work were chosen for two reasons. Firstly, 50 ng/L of EE_2 in a static exposure is close to the environmentally-relevant concentrations found in Canadian and American aquatic environments (EE₂ concentrations as high as 42 ng/L and averaging 0.2 and 7 ng/L EE₂; Desbrow et al., 1998; Ternes et al., 1999). As EE_2 is very hydrophobic (Log K_{ow}= 4.15; Teske & Arnold, 2008) and tends to get attached to the airline tubing and the glass walls of the tank, we assumed the 50 ng/L nominal concentration would decrease to a final concentration of EE_2 in the exposure tanks close to environmental relevance. This has been shown in earlier studies, in which EE_2 final concentrations were 58% to 84% of the original concentration of 0.2, 1, 4, 16 and 64 ng/L (Länge et al., 2001); 10-20% of the original nominal 100 ng/L (Peters et al., 2007); 60% of 20 ng/L (Björkblom et al., 2009); and 70% and 50% of 100 and 500 ng/L, respectively (Hogan et al. 2010). Secondly, 250 ng/L of EE₂ has been demonstrated to provide mechanistic information on the effects of EE₂ on steroidogenesis in mummichog (Hogan *et al.*, 2010). While water samples were taken to quantify actual EE_2 exposure levels in the present study, issues with the quality assurance/quality control in the analyzing laboratory meant no values are available for reporting purposes.

Previous studies have indicated that higher concentrations of EE_2 are needed to produce endocrine effects in the estuarine sheepshead minnow (*Cyprinodon variegatus Lacépède*; Zillioux *et al.*, 2001) and mummichog (MacLatchy *et al.*, 2003; Peters *et al.*, 2007, Hogan *et al.*, 2010) than in freshwater species. In mummichog, the requirement for higher EE_2 exposure concentrations to cause reproductive endocrine effects could be due to one or more factors, including differences in EE₂ availability, uptake, tissue distribution, metabolism or receptor affinity. Recent studies have indicated that EE₂ availability is the same in 0 or 16 ppt salinity (Nadon, 2010). Gill uptake of EE₂ is greater in mummichog at 16 ppt rather than 0 or 32 ppt; this has been hypothesized to be due to the expanded diffusion distance for EE₂ across mummichog gills in brackish water (Blewett, 2011). At 16 ppt the diffusion distance is small due to the presence of apical pores on the outer lamellae, whereas at 0 ppt there is a predominance of thick cuboidal cells mixed with pavement cells and inactive seawater chlorine cells (SWCC) (Marshall *et al.*, 1997; Katoh *et al.*, 2001; Laurent *et al.*, 2006). At 32 ppt there is an increased number of SWCC to cope with the ionic balance. An increase in gill thickness in both fresh and saltwater conditions slows the diffusion rate (Philpott & Copeland, 1963; Laurent *et al.*, 2006). As EE₂ uptake rates correspond with O₂ uptake (Blewett, 2011), the rates of uptake being greater at 16 ppt than 0 ppt and 32 ppt due to gill structure is further supported.

In regard to tissue distribution and metabolism, EE_2 is distributed very quickly to the liver, gall bladder and gut in mummichog following uptake (Blewett, 2011). The distribution pattern indicates a high rate of metabolism and potentially low effective concentrations in target tissues. This distribution pattern differs between mummichog and rainbow trout held at 0 and 16 ppt (Blewett, 2011), demonstrating species differences in EE_2 tissue distribution and elimination rates. Mummichog are known to have high tolerance for various contaminants (Burnett *et al.*, 2007; Lister *et al.*, 2011) and high rates of metabolism and elimination could account for some of this tolerance and low comparative sensitivity to EE_2 .

 EE_2 has high affinity for the estrogen receptor (Segner *et al.*, 2003) and stimulates ER-mediated effects, such as vitellogenin gene expression (Björkblom, et al., 2009) and protein production (Osborne et al., 2007). ER gene structure varies among fish species. Phylogenetic analysis of ER gene structure by Orlando et al. (2006) showed that ER α and ER β of mummichog is closer to that of Japanese medaka and mangrove killifish (*Kryptolebias marmoratus*) than to goldfish or rainbow trout. One could then hypothesize that Japanese medaka will also need a higher concentration of EE₂ to produce an endocrine response. Indeed, previous studies have demonstrated that higher concentrations of EE₂ (50-488 ng/L) are needed to affect the reproductive endocrinology of Japanese medaka (Seki et al, 2002; Ma et al., 2005; Kashiwada et al., 2007). Therefore, it would be interesting for future experiments to analyze the effects of EE_2 on species close and distant phylogenetically to mummichog, focusing in the interaction between EE₂ and the ER, to determine whether ER gene structure, and ultimately ER structure, has roles in determining the effective concentration of EE_2 required to stimulate reproductive endocrine responses in fish.

2.5.2. Salinity exposure

According to our results, salinity is not a major factor affecting mummichog reproductive endocrine status since there are not marked correlations between salinity and somatic indices, plasma steroids or steroid production. Higher salinity levels increased male body weight, liver weight, gonad weight, LSI and GSI. The increases in male mummichog somatic indices when salinity was raised could be related to increased food intake or improved energy conversion for osmoregulation (Tseng & Hwang, 2008). However, similar changes were not observed in female somatic endpoints, perhaps due to the amount of energy diverted at any salinity to reproduction. Food was not limiting in the exposures, therefore eliminating food availability as a factor in the results.

Overall, salinity did not affect the endocrine response of mummichog to EE_2 , as 250 ng/L of EE_2 in the three salinities tested decreased female E_2 production and male circulating 11-KT levels equally at all salinities. There was a significant interaction between salinity and EE_2 when we analyzed female gonadal T and male gonadal T production. Comparison of female T production between 0 ppt and 16 ppt, and 0 ppt and 32 ppt, showed 1.64- and 2-fold increases, respectively, with increasing salinity, but no change in male T production. Additionally, a salinity variation between 0 ppt and 32 ppt caused a 1.6-fold depression in 11-KT production in males. Nadon (2010) has recently demonstrated greater induction of vitellogenin 1 and 2 gene expression in mummichog at 16 ppt compared to 0 ppt of salinity. Coupled with increased uptake of EE₂ at 16 ppt of salinity compared to 0 ppt and 32 ppt (Blewett, 2011), increased effects of EE₂ at 16 ppt might have been expected. A greater endocrine response at 16 ppt was detected for plasma E₂ in females, as levels at 16 ppt were significantly decreased compared to levels at 0 and 32 ppt. However, this effect was minor when all the results are considered. The limited responses in reproductive endocrine endpoints at different salinities, however, reinforces the hypothesis that tissue distribution in mummichog to the liver, gall bladder and gut at all salinities, as demonstrated by Blewett (2011), diminishes non-hepatic tissue distribution (including gonads) even if uptake is higher at particular salinities.

2.5.3. Temperature exposure

In the present study, we found that temperature is a major environmental factor regulating mummichog reproductive physiology at different levels of biological organization. An increase in temperature triggered gonadal growth and maturation in both females and males. GSI increased in both females and males with increases in temperature, perhaps initiating a spawning cycle, and confirming the importance of temperature as a factor controlling reproduction in northern mummichog. Our results support the findings of McMullin *et al.* (2009), who also found in a field study that the reproductive cycle of northern mummichog is chiefly regulated by temperature and that females are more responsive to temperature than males during the spawning season. Increasing temperature decreased LSI in mummichog females and decreased liver weight in males. The variation in LSI and liver weight is possibly due to the use of stored energy in the liver. Several fish species use stored liver fat as an energy source during spawning periods (Kott, 1971; Overton & Van der Avyle, 2005; McMullin *et al.*, 2009).

Plasma E_2 levels and E_2 production in females increased with temperature, whereas male 11-KT production decreased with temperature. Females in 0 ng/L of EE_2 kept at 18 and 26°C had 4- and 3-fold higher plasma E_2 levels than females at 10°C. There was a significant depression on the production of E_2 at 10°C only when testosterone was present in the incubation media. Our results indicate that females are more responsive to a temperature variation than males, since temperature regulated their reproductive status at several levels, whereas in males temperature modified the production of 11-KT but not the plasma levels. EE₂ at 250 ng/L significantly increased male liver weight in fish held at 26°C. Estrogen exposure has previously been shown to increase liver weight and gonad weight in fish (Andersson *et al.*, 2007). Liver weight increases are presumably due to increased metabolic activity required by the liver tissue to clear the estrogen and/or produce large quantities of the ER-mediated hepatic lipoprotein vitellogenin. Male GSI were depressed when exposed to 250 ng/L of EE₂ and held at 26°C. Male mummichog GSI was also significantly decreased by exposure to 250 ng/L of EE₂ when held at 18°C for 14 days (Hogan *et al.*, 2010) confirming studies with other fish species (e.g., three-spined stickleback, *Gasterosteus aculeatus*; Andersson *et al.*, 2007).

In our temperature exposure, plasma E_2 was depressed when fish held at 18°C were exposed to 250 ng/L of EE₂. Effects of EE₂ have been shown to depend on the levels of circulating E_2 (Kime *et al.*, 1999); because plasma E_2 was lower at 10°C than at 18 or 26°C, this could alter EE₂'s effects. EE₂ depressed the production of E_2 when the ovaries were incubated in 25-OH cholesterol-, pregnenolone-, and testosterone-stimulated media at 18°C. These results corroborate what we found in females in the salinity exposure experiments; that is, that EE₂'s effects are downstream of cholesterol mobilization, and downstream of T to E_2 conversion. Increased uptake of EE₂ at higher temperatures (Blewett, 2011) could account for increased effects on steroidogenesis at higher temperatures.

In the present salinity and temperature exposures, the effect of EE₂ on female and male gonadal T production was highly variable. However, 250 ng/L of EE₂ markedly depressed E₂ production in females and 11-KT in males. Previous studies conducted in different species support our findings and corroborate EE₂'s disruptive effects on fish reproductive endocrine status by affecting terminal steroid production. When Condeça & Canario (1999) exposed sea bream to 15 mg of EE₂/kg of diet for 37 and 112 d, they found that there was a significant increase in the production of both T and E₂. Juvenile turbot exposed to 3.5 and 75 ng/L of EE₂ for 15 d had a significant decrease in the production of 11-KT in males (Labadie & Budzinski, 2006). Previous studies with mummichog have shown that 500 ng/L of EE₂ reduced female T and E₂ production and male T and 11-KT production (MacLatchy *et al.*, 2003). As well, 100 ng/L of EE₂ depressed T and E₂ production in females (Peters *et al.*, 2007). These latter two works indicate that terminal steroid biosynthesis in mummichog is affected by EE₂.

Similar to many other studies in mummichog (MacLatchy *et al.*, 2003; Sharpe *et al.*, 2004; Peters *et al.*, 2007; Hogan *et al.*, 2010), plasma T and gonadal T production were not parallel in females and males, and neither were plasma and gonadal 11-KT in males. At 0 and 16 ppt the depressions caused by EE_2 on male 11-KT production were altered but at p<0.1 rather than p<0.05 ($p_{0ppt} = 0.082$; $p_{16ppt} = 0.096$). A parallelism between plasma steroids and gonadal steroid production indicates a potential mechanistic linkage between effects of EE_2 on gonadal steroidogenesis and circulating steroid levels.

An alteration in plasma steroids indicates a true endocrine effect, whereas if the disruptive effect is only on the gonadal production, the overall endocrine status of the animal may not be affected (Thomas, 1988; Munkittrick *et al.*, 1991; Munkittrick *et al.*, 1992; Hecker *et al.*, 2002; Coe *et al.* 2008). The differences observed between the plasma and the gonadal T and 11-KT may be due to homeostatic mechanisms that regulate the T and 11-KT levels in the plasma. It has been demonstrated that the adrenal and the interrenal gland under the influence of gonadotrophins are able to produce T and 11-KT to compensate for a reduction in production by the gonads (Idler & McNab, 1967; Vermeulen *et al.*, 1994; Gazolla & Borella, 1997). As well, alterations in clearance rates of plasma steroids can be altered to maintain plasma steroid in homeostatic ranges (MacLatchy *et al.*, 1997). The effect of EE₂ on female plasma E₂ and gonadal production demonstrates a synchronization of effects at the plasma and gonadal level. The parallelism observed for female E₂ was previously reported in mummichog by MacLatchy *et al.* (2003) and Peters *et al.* (2007).

2.5.5. Steroidogenic precursors as a useful experimental tool

Using steroidogenic precursors in the *in vitro* incubations helped us to determine that the effect of EE_2 in females is at the T to E_2 and in males at the T to 11-KT conversion steps of steroidogenesis. As previously demonstrated, the use of intermediates is a useful tool to determine the mechanistic effects of EE_2 or other contaminants (McMaster *et al.*, 1995; Hogan *et al.*, 2010). We have definitively demonstrated that in female mummichog, EE_2 alters steroidogenesis as far downstream as aromatase. This supports and furthers the previous work of Hogan *et al.* (2010), in which exposure of EE₂ (250 ng/L nominal concentration) resulted in depressed gonadal T downstream of cholesterol mobilization. Sea bream gonads incubated with androstenedione, after *in vivo* exposure to 15 mg of EE₂/kg of diet, increased significantly the production of E₂ and T, demonstrating that the effect of EE₂ in sea bream was downstream of androstenedione to T conversion (Condeça & Canario, 1999). The value of this experimental design is that it pinpoints where further efforts to determine modes of action of EE₂ on steroidogenesis should be focused; for example, whether the effects are mediated by genomic or non genomic effects (Garcia-Reyero *et al.*, 2009). In mummichog, a limited but growing range of molecular tools exists, such as primer sequences for gonadal steroidogenic enzymes (Burnett *et al.*, 2007; Lister *et al.*, 2011).

2.5.6. Ovarian P450 aromatase A (cyp 19a) gene expression

EE₂ interacts with the ER (Condeça & Canario, 1999; Segner *et al.*, 2003), triggering genomic (Filby *et al.*, 2007) and non-genomic responses (Legler *et al.*, 2002; Thomas & Doughty, 2004; Vasudevan & Pfaff, 2008) in fish. In our study, EE₂ depressed ovarian T to E₂ production without altering aromatase A gene expression. A possible explanation could be that the effect of EE₂ is post-transcriptional. These potential mechanisms include regulation of mRNA half-life, control of translation, protein halflife, regulation of protein activity and post-translational modifications (Denslow *et al.*, 2001), none of which were analyzed in this study. In the future, more research should be done to investigate these potential mechanisms and to develop the tools necessary to do so.

2.5.7. Conclusions

In conclusion, our work is the first to demonstrate, by using steroidogenic precursors, that the effect of EE_2 in mummichog is most pronounced on final conversion of T to the terminal steroids (E_2 and 11-KT) in female and male mummichog. We were also able to demonstrate that temperature plays an important role in mummichog reproductive endocrine regulation, confirming the role of temperature in northern mummichog reproduction (MacLatchy et al., 2005; McMullin et al., 2009). EE₂ was demonstrated to be a potent endocrine disruptor since it is a strong antagonist to the effects of temperature. In estuaries, initiation of reproductive development in northern mummichog is linked with increases in water temperature (McMullin et al., 2009). Reproductive endpoints assessed in this study appear to be generally robust when challenged by different salinities but not EE₂. There was minor evidence that reproductive endocrine endpoints are affected to a greater degree by EE_2 exposure at 16 ppt as previously demonstrated for direct receptor-mediated responses (vitellogenin 1 and 2 gene expression; Nadon, 2010). Overall, EE_2 retards reproductive development and reproductive endocrine status with the potential for population-level effects in wild fish, including during sensitive periods of gonadal recrudescence. Our study also indicates that experimental designs of standardized tests for screening EDSs need to be carefully chosen to ensure that interactions between environmental factors and the EDSs are being considered.

2.6 References

- Andersson, C., Katsiadaki, I., Lundstedt-Ekel, K. and Örberg, J. 2007. Effects of 17αethynylestradiol on EROD activity, spiggin and vitellogenin in three-spined stickleback (*Gasterosteus aculeatus*). *Aquat. Toxicol.* 83: 33-42.
- Ankley, G.T. and Johnson, R.D. 2004. Small fish models for identifying and assessing the effects of endocrine-disrupting chemicals. *Ilar J.* 45: 469-483
- Balch, G.C., Mackenzie, C.A., Metcalfe, C.D. 2004. Alterations to gonadal development and reproductive success in Japanese medaka (*Oryzias latipes*) exposed to 17αethinylestradiol. *Environ. Toxicol. Chem.* 23: 782-791
- Baron, D., Fostier, A., Breton, B., Guiguen, Y. 2005. Androgen and estrogen treatments alter steady state messengers RNA (mRNA) levels of testicular steroidogenic enzymes in the rainbow trout, *Oncorhynchus mykiss. Molec. Reprod. Develop.* 9999: 1-9
- Björkblom, C., Högfors, E., Salste, L., Bergelin, E., Olsson, P.E., Katsiadaki, I., Wilklund, T. 2009. Estrogen and androgenic effects of municipal wastewater effluent on reproductive endpoit biomarkers in three-spined sticklerback (*Gastersteus aculeatus*). *Environ. Toxicol. Chem.* 28: 1063-1071
- Blewett, T. 2011. Environmental influences on the accumulation of ethynylestradiol in marine teleosts. MSc Thesis. McMaster University, pp: 1-71
- Burnett, K.G., Bain, L.J., Baldwin, W.S., Callard, G.V., Cohen, S., Di Giulio, R.T., Evans, D.H., Gómez-Chiarri, M., Hahn, M.E., Hoover, C.A., Karchner, S.I., Fumi, K., MacLatchy, D.L., Marshall, W.S., Meyer, J.J., Nacci, D.E., Oleksiak, M.F., Rees, B.B., Singer, T.D., Stegeman, J.J., Towle, D.W., Van Veld, P.A., Vogelbein, W.K., Whitehead, A., Winn, R.N., Crawford, D.L. 2007. *Fundulus* as the premier teleost model in environmental biology: Opportunities for new insights using genomics. *Comp. Biochem. Physiol.* Part D 2: 257-286
- Burnison, K. B., Hartmann, A., Lister, A., Servos, M.R., Ternes, T., Van der Kraak, G.J. 2003 A toxicity identification evaluation approach to studying estrogenic substances in hog manure and agricultural runoff. *Environ. Toxicol. Chem.* 22: 2243-2250
- Catillo, M. and Barceló, D. 1997. Analysis of industrial effluents to determine endocrinedisrupting chemicals. *Trends Analyt. Chem.* 16: 574-583
- Coe, T.S., Hamilton, P.B., Paull, G.C., Stevens, J.R., Sumner, K., Tyler, C.R. 2008. An environmental estrogen alters reproductive hierarchies, disrupting sexual selection in group-spawning fish. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 42: 5020-5025
- Colucci, M.S. and Topp, E. 2001. Persistence of estrogenic hormones in agricultural soils: II. 17α -ethinylestradiol. *J. Environ. Qual.* 30: 2077-2080

- Condeça, J.B. and Canario A.V.M. 1999. The effect of estrogen on the gonads and on *in vitro* conversion of androstenedione to testosterone, 11-ketotestosterone, and estradiol-17β in *Sparus aurata* (Teleostei, Sparidae). *Gen. Comp. Endocrinol.* 116: 59-72
- Damstra, T., Barlow, S., Bergman, A., Kavlock, R., Van der Kraak, G. 2002. *Global* assessment of the state of the science of endocrine disruptors; World Health Organization, G, pp. 1-7
- Denslow, N.D., Lee, H.S., Bowman, C.J., Hemmer, M.J., Folmar, L.C. 2001. Multiple responses in gene expression in fish treated with estrogen. *Comp. Biochem. Physiol.* Part B 129: 277-282
- Desbrow, C., Routledge, E.J., Brigthy, G.C., Sumpter, J.P., Waldock, M. 1998. Identification of estrogenic chemicals in STW effluents. 1. Chemical fraction and *in vitro* biological screening. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 32: 1549-1558
- Filby, A.L., Thorpe, K.L., Maack, G., Tyler, C.R. 2007. Gene expression profiles revealing the mechanisms of anti-androgen- and estrogen-induced feminization in fish. *Aquat. Toxicol.* 81: 219-231
- Garcia-Reyero, N., Kroll, K.J., Orlando, E.F., Watanabe, K.H., Sepúlveda, M.S., Villeneuve, D.L., Perkins, E.J., Ankley, G.T., Denslow, N.D. 2009. Gene expression responses in male fathead minnows exposed to binary mixture of an estrogen and antiestrogen. *BMC genomics10: 308*
- Gazola, R. Borella, M.I. 1997. Plasma testosterone and 11-ketotestoterone levels of male pacu *Piaractus mesopotamicus* (Cypriniformes, Characidae). *Braz. J. Med. Biol. Resear.* 30: 1485-1487
- Haddy, J.A. and Pankhurst, N.W. 2000. The effects of salinity on reproductive development, plasma steroid levels, fertilization and egg survival in black bream *Acanthospagrus butcheri*. *Aquaculture* 188: 115-131
- Hecker, M., Murphy, M.B., Coady, K.K., Villeneuve, D.L., Jones, P.D., Carr, J.A., Solomon, K.R., Smith, E.E., Van der Kraak, G.J., Gross, T., Du Preez, L., Kendall, R.J., Giesy, J.P. 2006. Terminology of gonadal anormalies in fish and amphibians resulting from chemical exposures. *Environ. Contam. Toxicol.* 187: 103-131
- Hecker, M., Tyler, C., Hoffmann, M., Maddix, S., Karbe, L. 2002. Plasma biomarkers in fish provide evidence for endocrine modulation in the Elbe River, Germany. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 36: 2311-2321
- Hewitt L.M., Kovacs, T.G., Dubé, M.G., MacLatchy, D.L., Martel, P.H., McMaster, M.E., Paice, M.G., Parrot, J.L., Vand den Heuvel, M.R., Vann der Kraak, G.J. 2008. Altered

reproduction in fish exposed to pulp and paper mill effluents: Role of individual compounds and mill operating conditions. *Environ. Toxicol. Chem.* 27: 682-697

- Hogan, N.S., Currie, S., Le Blanc, S., Hewitt, M.L., MacLatchy, D.L. 2010. Modulation of steroidogenesis and estrogen signalling in the estuarine killifish (*Fundulus heteroclitus*) exposed to ethinylestradiol. *Aquat. Toxicol.* 98: 148-156
- Idler, D.R. and MacNab, H.C. 1967. The biosynthesis of 11-ketostestoterone and 11βhydroxytestosterone by Atlantic salmon tissue *in vitro*. *Can. J. Biochem.* 45: 581-593
- Ings, J. and Van der Kraak, G.J. 2006. Characterization of the mRNA expression of StAR, and steroidogenic enzymes in zebrafish ovarian folicles. *Molec. Reprod. Develop.* 73: 943-954
- Jürgens, M., Holthaus, K.I.E, Johnson, A.C., Smith, J.J.L, Hetheridge, M., Williams, R.J. 2002. The potential for estradiol and ethinylestradiol degradation in English rivers. *Environ. Toxicol.Chem.* 21: 480-488
- Katoh, F., Hasegawa, S., Kita, J., Takagi, Y., Kaneko, T. 2001. Distinct sweater and freshwater types of chloride cells in killifish, *Fundulus heteroclitus. Can. J. Zool.* 79: 822-829
- Kashiwada, S., Kameshiro, M., Tatsuta, H., Sugaya, Y., Kullman, S.W., Hinton, D.E., Goka, K. 2007 Estrogenic modulation of CYP3A38, CYP3A40, and CYP19 in mature male medaka (*Oryzias latipes*). *Comp. Biochem. Physiol.* Part C 145: 370-378
- Kime, D.E. Nash, J.P., Scott, A.P. 1999. Vitellogenesis as a biomarker of reproductive disruption by xenobiotics. *Aquaculture* 177: 345-352
- Kneib, R. 1986. The role of *Fundulus heteroclitus* in salt marsh trophic dynamics. *Amer. Zool.* 26: 259-269
- Kott, E. 1971. Liver and muscle composition of mature lampreys. Can. J. Zool. 49:801-806
- Kuch, H.M. and Ballschmiter, K. 2001. Determination of endocrine-disrupting phenolic compounds and estrogens in surface and drinking water by HRGC-(NCI)-MS in the pictogram per liter range. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 35: 3201-3206
- Labadie, P. and Budzinski, H. 2006. Alteration of steroid hormone profile in juvenile turbot (*Psetta maxima*) as a consequence of short-term exposure to 17α -ethinylestradiol. *Chemosphere* 64: 1274-1286
- Länge, R., Hutchinson, T.H., Croudace, C.P., Seigmund, F., Schweinfurth, H., Hampe, P., Panter, G., Sumpter, J.P. 2001. Effects of the synthetic estrogen 17α-ethinylestradiol on the life-cycle of the fathead minnow (*Pimephales promelas*). *Environ. Toxicol. Chem.* 20: 1216-1227

- Larsen, M.G., Hansen, K.B., Henriksen, P.G., Baatrup, E. 2008. Male zebrafish (*Danio rerio*) courtship behaviour resists the feminising effects of 17α-ethinylestradiol morphological sexual characteristics do not. *Aquat. Toxicol.* 87: 234-244
- Laurent, P., Chevalier, C., Wood, C.M. 2006. Appearance of cuboidal cells in relation to salinity in gills of *Fundulus heteroclitus*, a species exhibiting branchial Na⁺ but not Cl⁻ uptake in freshwater. *Cell Tiss. Res.* 325: 481:492
- Lister, A.L, Van der Kraak, G.J., Rutherford, R., MacLatchy, D.L. 2011. *Fundulus heteroclitus*: Ovarian reproductive physiology and impact of environmental contaminants. *Comp. Biochem. Physiol.* Part C 154: 278-287
- Legler, J., Zeintra, L.M., Schuitemaker, F., Lanser, P.H., Bogerd, J., Brouwe A., Vethaak, D., De Voogt, P., Murk, A.J., Van der Burg, B., 2002. Comparison of *in vivo* and *in vitro* reporter gene assays for short-term screening of estrogenic activity. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 36: 4410-4415
- Loomis, A.K. and Thomas, P. 2000. Effects of estrogen and xenoestrogen on androgen production by Atlantic croaker testes *in vitro*: evidence for nongenomic action mediated by an estrogen membrane receptor. *Biol. Reprod.* 62: 995-1004
- Ma, T., Wan, X., Huang, Q., Wang, Z., Liu, J. 2005. Biomarker responses and reproductive toxicity of the effluent from a Chinese large sewage treatment plant in Japanese medaka (*Oryzias latipes*). *Chemosphere* 59: 281-288
- MacLatchy, D.L., Gormley, K.L., Ibey, R.E.M., Sharpe, R.L., Shaughnessy, K.S., Courtenay, S.C., Dubé, M.G., Van der Kraak, G.J. 2005. A short-term mummichog (*Fundulus heteroclitus*) bioassay to assess endocrine response to hormone-active compounds and mixtures. In Ostrander, G. (Ed) *Techniques in Aquatic Toxicology*, vol. 2.CRC Press, MA, pp: 55-91
- MacLatchy, D.L., Courtenay, S.C., Rice C.D., and Van der Kraak, G.J. 2003. Development of a short-term reproductive endocrine bioassay using steroid hormone and vitellogenin end points in the estuarine mummichog (*Fundulus heteroclitus*). *Environ. Toxicol. Chem.* 22: 996-1008
- MacLatchy, D., Peters, L. Nickle, J. and Van der Kraak, G.J. 1997. Exposure to β-sitosterol alters the endocrine status of goldfish differently than 17β-estradiol. *Environ. Toxicol. Chem.* 16:1895-1904.
- Marshall, W.S., Bryson, S.E., Darling, P., Whitten, C., Patrick, M., Wilkie, C.M., Wood, C.M., Bucland-Nicks, J. 1997. NaCl transport and ultrastucture of opercular epithelium from a freshwater-adapted euryhaline teleost, *Fundulus heteroclitus*. J. Experim. Zool. 277: 23-37

- Martin-Skilton, R., Saborido-Rey, F., Porte, C. 2008. Endocrine alteration and other biochemical responses in juvenile turbot exposed to the Prestige fuel oil. *Scien. Total Environ.* 404: 68-76
- Martyniuk, C.J., Xiong, H., Crump, K., Chiu, S., Sardana, R., Nalder, A., Gerrie, E.R., Xia, X., Trudeau, V.L. 2006. Gene expression profiling in the neuroendocrine brain of male goldfish (Carassius auratus) exposed to 17α-ethinylestradiol. Physiol. Genomics 27: 328-336
- McMaster, M.E., Munkittrick, K.R., Jardine, J.J., Robinson, R.D., Van der Kraak, G.J. 1995. Protocol for measuring *in vitro* steroid production by fish gonadal tissue. *Can. Tech. Rept. Fish. Aquat. Sci.* 1961: 1-78
- McMullin, V.A., Munkittrick, K.R., Methven, D.A. 2009. Latitudinal variability in lunar spawning rhythms: absence of a lunar pattern in the northern mummichog *Fundulus heteroclitus macrolepidotus*. J. Fish Biol. 75: 885-900
- Munkittrick, K.R., Van der Kraak, G.J., McMaster, M.E., Portt, C.B. 1992. Response of hepatic MFO activity and plasma sex sterids to secondary treatment of bleached kraft pulp mill effluent and mill shutdown. *Eviron. Toxicol. Chem.* 11: 1427-1439
- Munkittrick, K.R., Portt, C.B., Van der Kraak, G.J., Smith, I.R., Rokosh, D. 1991. Impact of bleached kraft mill effluent on population characteristics, liver MFO activity and serum steroid levels of a Lake Superior white sucker (*Catostomus commersoni*) population. *Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci* 48: 1371-1380
- Nadon, T. 2010. Effect of salinity on responses to 17α-ethynylestradiol in male Fundulus heteroclitus. BSc. Thesis, Wilfrid Laurier University, pp: 3-25
- Nash, J.P., Kime, D.E., Van der Ven, L.T.M., Wester, P.W., Brion, F., Maack, G., Stahlscmidt-Allner, P., Tyler, C.R. 2004. Long-term exposure to environmental concentrations of the pharmaceutical ethynylestradiol causes reproductive failure in fish. *Environ. Health Persp.* 112: 1725-1733
- Nelson, S.H. and Van der Kraak, G.J. 2010. Characterization and regulation of the insulinlike growth factor (IGF) system in the zebrafish (*Danio rerio*) ovary. *Gen. Comp. Endocrinol.* 168: 111-120
- Orlando, E.F., Katsu, Y., Miyagawa, S., Iguchi, T. 2006. Cloning and differential expression of estrogen receptor and aromatase genes in self-fertilizing hermaphrodite and male mangrove rivulus, *Kryptolebias marmoratus*. J. Molec. Endocrinol. 37: 353-365
- Osborne, N. Sherry, J., Rendell, J.L., Currie, S. 2007. The role of hsp 90 in the 17αethynylestradiol-induced endocrine disruption in rainbow trout hepatocytes. *Ecotoxicol. Environ. Saf.* 68: 13-19

- Overton, A. S. and Van den Avyle, M.J. 2005. Effects of salinity on survival, growth, and nutritional condition of juvenile striped bass: possible environmental factor effecting their distribution in southeastern estuaries. *Proc. Annu. Southeast. Assoc. Fish. Wildl. Agencies* 59: 313-324
- Palace, V.P., Wautier, K.G., Evans, R.E., Blanchfield, P.J., Mills, K.H.; Chalanchuk, S.M., Godard, D., McMaster, M.E., Tetreault, G.R., Peters, L.E., Vanderbyllaardt, L., Kidd, K.A. 2006. Biochemical and histopathological effects in pearl dace (*Margariscus margarita*) chronically exposed to a synthetic estrogen in a whole lake experiment. *Environ. Toxicol. Chem.* 25: 1114-1125
- Pankhurst, N.W., Purser, G.J., Van der Kraak, G.J., Thomas, P.M., Forteath, G.N.R. 1996. Effects of holding temperature on ovulation, egg fertility, plasma levels of reproductive hormones and in vitro ovarian steroidogenesis in the rainbow trout *Oncorhynchus mykiss*. *Aquaculture* 146: 277-290
- Peters, R.E.M., Courtenay, S.C., Hewitt, M.L., MacLatchy, D.L. 2010. Effects of 17αethinylestradiol on early-life development, sex differentiation and vitellogenin induction in mummichog (*Fundulus heteroclitus*). *Mar. Environ. Res.* 69:178-186
- Peters, R.E.M., S Courtenay, S.C., Cagampan, S., Hewitt, M.L., MacLatchy, D.L. 2007. Effects on reproductive potential and endocrine status in the mummichog (*Fundulus heteroclitus*) after exposure to 17α-ethinylestradiol in a short-term reproductive bioassay. *Aquat. Toxicol.* 85: 154-166
- Philpott, C.W. and Copeland, D.E. 1963. Fine structure of chloride cells from three species of *Fundulus*. J. Cell Biol. 18: 389-404
- Quoc Pham, H., Kjorsovik, E., Nguyen, A.T., Nguyen, M.D., Aurukwe, A. 2010. Reproductive cycle in female Waigieu seaperch (*Psammoperca waigiensis*) reared under different salinity levels and the effects of dopamine antagonist on steroid hormone levels. J. Exp. Mar. Biol. Ecol. 383: 137-145
- Rocha-Monteiro, P.R., Reis-Henriques, M.A., Coimbra, J. 2000. Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons inhibit *in vitro* ovarian steroidogenesis in the flounder (*Platichthys flesus* L.). *Aquat. Toxicol.* 48: 549-559
- Salierno, J.D. and Kane, A.S. 2009. 17α-ethinylestradiol alters reproductive behaviours, circulating hormones, and sexual morphology in male fathead minnows (Pimephales promelas). Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 28: 953-961
- Schultz, I.R., Skillman, A., Nicolas, J.M., Cyr, D.G., Nagler J.J. 2003. Short-term exposure to 17α-ethynylestradiol decreases the fertility of sexually maturing male rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*). *Environ. Toxicol. Chem.* 22: 1272-1280

- Segner, H., Navas, J.M., Schäfers, C., Weznel, A. 2003. Potencies of estrogenic compounds in *in vitro* screening assays an in life cycle test with zebrafish *in vivo*. *Ecotoxicol*. *Environm. Saf.* 54: 315-322
- Seki, M., Yokota, H., Matsubara, H., Tsuruda, Y., Maeda, M., Tadokoro, H., Kobayashi, K. 2002. Effects of ethinylestradiol on the reproduction and induction of vitellogenin and testis-ova in medaka (*Oryzias latipes*) *Environ. Toxicol. Chem.* 21: 1692-1698
- Sharpe, R.L., Woodhouse, A., Moon, T.W., Trudeau, V.L., MacLatchy, D.L. 2007. β-Sitosterol and 17β-estradiol alter gonadal steroidogenic acute regulatory protein (StAR) expression in goldfish, *Carassius auratus. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol.* 151: 34-41
- Sharpe, R.L., MacLatchy D.L., Courtenay, S.C., Van der Kraak, G.J. 2004. Effects of a model androgen (methyl testosterone) and a model anti-androgen (cyproterone acetate) on reproductive endocrine endpoints in a short-term adult mummichog (*Fundulus heteroclitus*) bioassay. *Aquat. Toxicol.* 67: 203-215
- Soria, F.N.; Strüssmann, C.A.; Miranda, L.A. 2008. High water temperatures impair the reproductive ability of the pejerrey fish (*Odontesthes bonariensis*): effects on hypophyseal-gonadal axis. *Physiol. and Biochem. Zool.* 81: 898-905
- Tarrant, H., Llewellyn, N., Lyon A., Tattersall, N., Wylde, S., Mouzaikitis, G., Maloney, M., McKenzie, C. 2005. Endocrine disruptors in the Irish aquatic environment-final report. EPA, W, pp: 1-151
- Ternes, T.A., Stumpf, M., Mueller, J., Haberer, K., Wilken, R.D., Servos, M. 1999. Behavior and occurrence of estrogens in municipal sewage treatment plants- I Investigation in Germany, Canada and Brazil. *Sci. Total Environ.* 225: 81-90
- Teske, S.S. and Arnold, R.G. 2008. Removal of natural and xeno-estrogens during conventional wastewater treatment. *Rev. Environm, Sci. Biotechnol.* 7: 107-124
- Thomas P. and Dougthy, K. 2004. Disruption of rapid, nongenomic steroid action by environmental chemicals: interference with progestin stimulation of sperm motility in Atlantic croaker. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 38: 6328-6332
- Thomas, P. 1988. Reproductive endocrine function in female Atlantic croacker exposed to pollutants. Mar. Environ. Resear. 24: 179-183
- Thorpe, K.L., Maak, G., Benstead, R., Tyler, C.R. 2009. Estrogenic wastewater treatment works effluents reduce egg production in fish. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 43: 2976-2982
- Tseng, Y.C. and Hwang, P.P. 2008. Some insights into energy metabolism for osmoregulation in fish. *Comp. Biochem. Physiol.* Part C 148: 419-429

- Vasudevan, N. and Pfaff, D.W. 2008. Non-genomic actions of estrogens and their interaction with genomic actions in the brain. *Front. Neuroendocrinol.* 29: 238-257
- Vermeulen, G.J., Lambert, J.G.D., Van der Looy, M.J.W., Goos, H.J.Th. 1994. Gas chromatographic-mass spectrometric (GC-MS) analysis of gonadal steroids in plasma of male African catfish, *Clarias gariepinus*: Effects of castration or treatment with gonadotropin releasing hormone analogue. *Gen. Comp. Endocrinol.* 96: 288-297
- Zillioux, E.J., Johnson, I.C., Kiparissis, Y., Metcalfe, C.D., Wheat, J.V., Ward, S.C., Hui, L. 2001. The sheepshead minnow as an *in vivo* model for endocrine disruption in marine teleosts: a partial life-cycle test with 17α-Ethynylestradiol. *Environ. Toxicol. Chem.* 20: 1968-1978

Chapter 3

General Discussion and Future Directions

3.1. Relevant findings

This work corroborates the findings of McMullin *et al.* (2009) that temperature regulates northern mummichog (*Fundulus heteroclitus macrolepidotus*) reproductive status. Increasing temperature stimulates gonadal growth and steroidogenesis; females are more responsive than males. Of importance is our novel finding that 250 ng/L of 17α -ethinylestradiol (EE₂) depresses temperature-induced gonadal growth in males.

We also analyzed the effect of salinity and EE_2 on steroidogenesis. Salinity did not affect mummichog reproductive endocrine status, although EE_2 had a more prominent effect on female circulating 17 β -estradiol (E_2) at 16 ppt than 32 ppt or 0 ppt salinity. As explained by Blewett (2011), EE_2 uptake varies with salinity as uptake is higher at 16 ppt, than at 0 ppt or 32 ppt, due to variations in gill thickness. At 16 ppt the diffusion distance is smaller than at 0 ppt or 32 ppt due to the presence of apical pores on the outer lamellae. At 0 ppt there is a predominance of thick cuboidal cells intermingled with pavement cells and dormant seawater chlorine cells, while at 32 ppt there is an increased number of seawater chloride cells.

 EE_2 at 250 ng/L depressed E_2 production in females and 11-ketotestosterone (11-KT) production in males. Using steroidogenic precursors, we demonstrated that the effect of EE_2 is as far downstream as testosterone (T) to E_2 conversion in females and T to 11-KT in males, corroborating and furthering the work of Hogan *et al.* (2010). However, we were not able to demonstrate an effect of EE_2 on aromatase A gene expression. In summary, while some hypotheses were accepted, others were rejected (Table 3.1).

Table 3.1: Summary of the acceptance or rejection of the hypotheses postulated for this study. $E_2 = 17\beta$ -Estradiol; 11-KT = 11-ketotestoterone; T = Testosterone; $EE_2 = 17\alpha$ -Ethinylestradiol; GSI = Gonadosomatic indices; LSI = Liver somatic indices

Null Hypothesis	Accepted (A) or Rejected (R)	Reasons for Rejection
EE_2 does not affect organ weight and somatic indices	R	\downarrow in \bigcirc GSI when held at 26°C
Salinity (or temperature) does not affect organ	(Salinity) R	\uparrow in ${\mathcal {\bar{O}}}$ organ weight and somatic indices
weight and somatic indices	(Temp.) R	\uparrow in \bigcirc and \eth GSI and gonad weight
There is no interaction of EE_2 and salinity (or	(Salinity) R	Interaction between salinity and EE_2 for $\ensuremath{\mathbb{Q}}$ LSI
temperature) on organ weight and somatic indices	(Temp.) R	Interaction between temperature and EE_2 for ${\stackrel{\scriptstyle \nearrow}{\scriptstyle o}}$ GSI
EE_2 does not affect circulating steroid levels	R	↓ in ♀ plasma E_2 ↓ in ♂ plasma 11-KT
Salinity (or temperature) does not affect circulating	(Salinity) A	
steroid levels	(Temp) R	↑ in ♀ plasma E_2 ↓ in ♂ plasma 11-KT
There is no interaction of EE ₂ and salinity (or temperature) on circulating steroid levels	А	
EE ₂ does not affect biosynthesis of gonadal terminal steroids	R	↓ in \bigcirc E ₂ production
Salinity (or temperature) does not affect biosynthesis	(Salinity) R	\downarrow in \bigcirc 11-KT production
of gonadal terminal steroids	(Temp.) R	\downarrow in \bigcirc 11-KT production \uparrow in \bigcirc E ₂ production
There is no interaction of EE_2 and salinity (or	(Salinity) R	Interaction between salinity and $\text{EE}_2 \ \ $ and $\ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \$
temperature) on biosynthesis of gonadal terminal steroids	(Temp.) R	Interaction between temperature and $EE_2 \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \$
EE_2 does not affect P450 aromatase A (Cyp19a) gene expression	А	

3.2. Future directions

It is presumed that the 50 ng/L exposure was in the range of environmental relevance as EE_2 concentration downstream of sewage treatment plants range from 0.2 to 42 ng/L (Desbrow *et al.*, 1998; Ternes *et al.*, 1999). The 250 ng/L is considered to be a pharmacological concentration and was used as a tool to help determine potential mechanisms of action. The lack of effect of EE_2 on aromatase A mRNA expression suggests that the effect of EE_2 are non-genomic and/or possibly post transcriptional. In the future it would be interesting to do further studies at the molecular level and to compare genomic and non genomic mechanisms of EE_2 action. EE_2 interacts with the estrogen receptor (ER) causing endocrine disruption by mimicking the action of the endogenous E_2 at the receptor (Segner *et al.*, 2003). Orlando *et al.* (2006) found that the ER gene structure varies between species. Consequently, it would be interesting to add an inter-specific analysis to determine if EE_2 interaction with the ER differs among species.

EE₂ is a potent estrogenic chemical, which has gained attention from researchers and society, because of its environmental relevance and its disruptive action. Effects of EE₂ as a model estrogen can be compared to other estrogenic, anti-estrogenic, androgenic and anti-androgenic EDSs (MacLatchy *et al.*, 2003; Sharpe *et al.*, 2004). For instance, Atlantic cod (*Gadus morhua*) previtellogenic oocytes exposed to 50 and 100 μ M of nonylphenol had reduced steroidogenic acute regulatory protein and P450 side-chain cleavage expression and plasma E₂ and 11-KT after 14 d of exposure (Kortner & Arukwe, 2007). Flounder (*Platichthys flesus*. L) ovarian vitellogenic tissue exposed to 15 μ M of phenanthrene, benzo[a]pyrene or chrysene for 24 h, had inhibited on 17,20-lyase,

17β-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase and aromatase activity (Rocha-Monteiro et al., 2000a). Additionally, flounder showed a significant decrease in circulating E_2 , when exposed in vivo to 0.5, 2.5 and 12.5 nmol of phenanthrene/g of food for 12 weeks (Rocha-Monteiro et al., 2000b). Rutherford (2011) found that mummichog exposed to 100 and 1000 ng/L of the androgen 17α -methyl testosterone or 10 and 100 µg/L of dihydrotestosterone caused decreased circulating E2 and 100 µg/L of dihydrotestosterone produced a depression of *in vitro* ovarian E₂ production. The effects of these estrogenic, antiestrogenic and androgenic compounds are comparable to EE₂'s estrogenic effects, however, differences do exist, including among estrogens. Legler et al. (2002) compared EE_2 's effect with those of E_2 , estrone, nonylphenol and di(2-ethylhexyl)phthalate by exposing zebrafish (Danio rerio). They found that EE₂ had 100 times more estrogenic potency than E₂ and nonylphenol. Our work and these previous studies encourage focusing efforts on understanding the effects of endocrine disrupting substances (EDSs) on steroidogenesis and comparing different EDSs to elucidate the mechanisms of their toxicological effects.

3.3 Integrative approach

By analyzing the effects of EE_2 at different levels of biological organization we were able to demonstrate that EE_2 affects general reproductive endocrine status in mummichog. EE_2 effects on gonadal steroidogenesis may have consequent effects on circulating levels of terminal steroids in female and in male mummichog (Figure 3.1). Although population-level effects were not directly studied, links between reproductive
status and population impacts have been demonstrated elsewhere (Kidd *et al.*, 2007). By evaluating the effect of environmental factors and EE_2 on mummichog reproductive physiology, we were able to give to our study a relevant environmental perspective missing from many laboratory studies.

Our work may be of interest in regard to sewage treatment plant (STP) management, as it indicates that EE_2 present in STP effluents is potentially disruptive for reproductive endocrine status in fish, in particular mummichog. Our results suggest that, in addition to developing improved STP treatment for estrogenic contaminants, temporal and spatial release of sewage should be studied in association with environmental parameters and fish reproductive cycles so as to reduce the impact on estuarine fish species.



Figure 3.1: Summary scheme of the effects of salinity, temperature and 17α -ethinylestradiol (EE₂) on mumnichog (*Fundulus heteroclitus*) reproductive endocrine status. Steroidogenic pathway modified from McMaster *et al.*, 1995 & Leusch, 2001. EE₂ uptake is via the gills (Blewett, 2011). E₂ = 17β -Estradiol; 11-KT = 11-Ketotestosterone; LSI = Liver somatic index; GSI= Gonadosomatic index.

3.4 References

- Blewett, T. 2011. Environmental influences on the accumulation of ethynylestradiol in marine teleosts. MSc Thesis. McMaster University, pp: 1-71
- Desbrow, C., Routledge, E.J., Brigthy, G.C., Sumpter, J.P., Waldock, M. 1998. Identification of estrogenic chemicals in STW effluents. 1. Chemical fraction and *in vitro* biological screening. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 32: 1549-1558
- Hogan, N.S., Currie, S., Le Blanc, S., Hewitt, M.L., MacLatchy, D.L. 2010. Modulation of steroidogenesis and estrogen signalling in the estuarine killifish (*Fundulus heteroclitus*) exposed to ethinylestradiol. *Aquat. Toxicol.* 98: 148-156.
- Kidd, K.A., Blanchfield, P.J, Mills, K.H., Palace, V.P., Evans, R.E., Lazorchak, J.M., Flick, R.W. 2007. Collapse of a fish population after exposure to a synthetic estrogen. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* 104: 8897-8901
- Kortner, T.M. and Arukwe, A. 2007. The xenoestrogen, 4-nonylphenol, impaired steroidogenesis in previtellogenic oocyte culture of Atlantic cod (*Gadus morhua*) by targeting the StAR protein and P450scc expression. *Gen. Compar. Endocrinol.* 150: 419-429
- Legler, J., Zeintra, L.M., Schuitemaker, F., Lanser, P.H., Bogerd, J., Brouwe A., Vethaak, D., De Voogt, P., Murk, A., Van der Burg, B., 2002. Comparison of *in vivo* and *in vitro* reporter gene assays for short-term screening of estrogenic activity. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 36: 4410-4415
- Leusch, F.D.L. 2001. *Mechanisms of action of phytosterols on goldfish (Carassius auratus)* gonadal steroidogenesis. MSc thesis, University of New Brunswick, pp: 2-16
- MacLatchy, D.L., Courtenay, S.C., Rice C.D., and Van der Kraak, G.J. 2003. Development of a short-term reproductive endocrine bioassay using steroid hormone and vitellogenin end points in the estuarine mummichog (*Fundulus heteroclitus*). *Environ. Toxicol. Chem.* 22: 996-1008
- McMaster, M.E., Munkittrick, K.R., Jardine, J.J., Robinson, R.D., Van der Kraak, G.J. 1995. Protocol for measuring *in vitro* steroid production by fish gonadal tissue. *Can. Tech. Rept. Fish. Aquat. Sci.* 1961: 1-78
- McMullin, V.A., Munkittrick, K.R., Methven, D.A. 2009. Latitudinal variability in lunar spawning rhythms: absence of a lunar pattern in the northern mummichog *Fundulus heteroclitus macrolepidotus*. J. Fish Biol. 75: 885-900
- Orlando, E.F., Katsu, Y., Miyagawa, S., Iguchi, T. 2006. Cloning and differential expression of estrogen receptor and aromatase genes in self-fertilizing hermaphrodite and male mangrove rivulus, *Kryptolebias marmoratus*. J. Molec. Endocrinol. 37: 353-365

- Rocha-Monteiro, P.R., Reis-Henriques, M.A., Coimbra, J. 2000a. Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons inhibit *in vitro* ovarian steroidogenesis in the flounder (*Platichthys flesus* L.). *Aquat. Toxicol.*48: 549-559
- Rocha-Monteiro, P.R., Reis-Henriques, M.A., Coimbra, J. 2000b. Plasma steroid levels in female flounder (*Platichthys flesus* L.) after chronic dietary exposure to single polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons. *Mar. Environ. Res.* 49: 453-467
- Rutherford, R.J.G. 2011. Improving understanding of endocrine-active in pulp and paper mill condensates using a mummichog (Fundulus heteroclitus) bioassay. MSc Thesis, Wilfrid Laurier University, pp: 1-85
- Segner, H., Navas, J.M., Schäfers, C., Weznel, A. 2003. Potencies of estrogenic compounds in *in vitro* screening assays an in life cycle test with zebrafish *in vivo*. *Ecotoxicol*. *Environm. Saf.* 54: 315-322
- Sharpe, R.L., MacLatchy D.L., Courtenay, S.C., Van der Kraak, G.J. 2004. Effects of a model androgen (methyl testosterone) and a model anti-androgen (cyproterone acetate) on reproductive endocrine endpoints in a short-term adult mummichog (*Fundulus heteroclitus*) bioassay. *Aquat. Toxicol.* 67: 203-215
- Ternes, T.A., Stumpf, M., Mueller, J., Haberer, K., Wilken, R.D., Servos, M. 1999. Behavior and occurrence of estrogens in municipal sewage treatment plants- I Investigation in Germany, Canada and Brazil. *Sci. Total Environ.* 225: 81-90